
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Budget and Performance Committee 

Date Tuesday 21 May 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 
Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 

Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Monday 13 May 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Giles Broadbent; Assembly Communications Officer; 
Telephone: 020 7983 4067; Email: giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Budget and Performance Committee 
Tuesday 21 May 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Budget and Performance Committee, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the 

London Assembly on 2 May 2019, as follows: 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 

Sian Berry AM 

Unmesh Desai AM 

Florence Eshalomi AM 

Susan Hall AM 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
 
 



 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note its terms of reference, which were agreed at 

the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2019, as follows: 

 

1. To examine at each stage of the consultation process the Mayor’s budget proposals for 

the next financial year and to report to the Assembly thereon as necessary. 

2. To report to the Assembly on the Mayor’s consultation budget at the conclusion of the 

consultation process. 

3. To undertake the duties of the Assembly referred to in paragraph 2(2) and paragraph 

3(2)(b) of Schedule 6 to the GLA Act 1999; namely, to receive and consider the Mayor’s 

consultation prior to the determination of the draft component budget for the Authority 

and to receive and consider the Mayor’s consultation prior to the final determination of 

the draft consolidated GLA budget. 

4. To examine, monitor and report to the Assembly from time to time on matters relating to 

the budgets and performance of the Greater London Authority and the Functional 

Bodies. 

5. To consider budgetary and performance matters on request from another standing 

committee and report its opinion to that standing committee. 

6. To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the health of 

persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable development in the United 

Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of opportunity. 

7. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes when within 

its terms of reference. 

8. To refer any issues to the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee which fall within the 

Committee’s remit. 

9. To examine, monitor and report to the Assembly from time to time on Mayoral directions, 

approvals and decisions, insofar as they relate to the budgets and performance of the 

GLA and the Functional Bodies. 
 
 



 

5 
 

5 Standing Delegations  
 
 The Committee is asked to note the following standing delegation of authority to 

the Chairman of the Committee, which was agreed at the Annual Meeting of the 

London Assembly on 2 May 2019: 

 

At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general authority to 

Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on the relevant committee 

or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups 

on the committee or sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and 

there is insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 

 

The then Budget Committee, on 22 June 2006, resolved: 

 

That the Chair be given delegated authority to write to the appropriate bodies seeking further 

information arising from discussion at meetings. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 38) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Budget and Performance Committee held on 5 March 2019 to be signed by the 

Chairman as a correct record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 38 are attached for Members and officers 
only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 39 - 142) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  David Pealing; david.pealing@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5525 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 

 The appendix to the report is attached for Members and officers only but is available from the 
following area of the GLA’s website:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance  
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


 

6 
 

8 Transport for London Capital Projects Delivery (Pages 143 - 144) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Gino Brand; gino.brand@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5792 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the report as background to putting questions to guests from Transport 

for London (TfL) on delivery of the TfL capital programme, and the 

subsequent discussion; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 

discussion at the meeting. 
 
 

9 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Pages 145 - 148) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Gino Brand; gino.brand@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5792 

  

The Committee is recommended to note its work programme. 
 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 11 June 2019 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:gino.brand@london.gov.uk
mailto:gino.brand@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 21 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Budget and Performance Committee 
Date: Tuesday 5 March 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance   

 

 
Present: 
 
Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair) 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Susan Hall AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Sian Berry AM, and Leonie Cooper AM, for whom 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM attended as a substitute. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 
2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
2.2 Resolved: 
 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 
Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/budget-performance


Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 5 March 2019 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meetings held on 11 and 12 December 2018 and 

7 and 8 January 2019 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 
4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 
 

That the action taken by the Chairman under delegated authority, in consultation 
with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree 
the Committee’s response to the Mayor’s Draft Consultation Budget 2019/20, be 
noted. 

 
 
6   London & Partners (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on London & Partners (L&P) to the following invited guests: 

 Laura Citron, Chief Executive, L&P; and 

 Andrew Cooke, Managing Director, Operations and Governance, L&P. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

6.3 During the course of the discussion, the following commitments were made during the course 

of the meeting, to: 

 Provide the final list of L&P’s KPIs and targets, following on from the draft business plan 

shared on 4 March 2019;  

 In future, to add commentary to published KPIs and performance against targets; 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 5 March 2019 

 

 
 

 Share the definitions of “leads” and stages of engagement used by L&P; 

 Provide the number of conversions following from the leads read out at the beginning of 

the meeting and furthermore, to provide the percentage of all conversions from all leads 

by sector and by market; 

 Explain the timeline and process behind the publication of the 2.5m engagements target; 

 Share a list of those variables within the GVA calculation used by L&P that will be 

refreshed and when; 

 Provide the completion form response rate; 

 Provide a detailed implementation timeline for those changes to governance procedures 

that were listed during the meeting, to include the publication of L&P’s decision making 

framework and the programme to refresh the organisation’s website; 

 Explain how the legal status of L&P affects its ability to publish the agendas or reports 

from any L&P body, as well as the impact of its status on publishing minutes of L&P’s 

committees or similar; 

 Review the current correspondence policy of L&P to see if it can be brought into line with 

the principles of the FoI Act, and to report to the Committee any changes made to ensure 

that it is, or any reason why it cannot; 

 Include within future annual reports details of all trade visits to include cost, list of top-

level meetings, participants and, in due course, impact; 

 Review the policy for initial engagements to ensure that the expectation that a company’s 

name will be published as being in receipt of assistance from L&P is clearly set out, and to 

report back to the Committee on how any changes are to be made; 

 Write on actions taken by L&P to assist “smallcarBIGCITY” in particular in relation to any 

relevant changes or proposed changes to PHV licencing, ULEZ or congestion charge rules; 

and 

 Set out the justification for additional funding received from the GLA for future major 

sports events consultancy, as set out in ADD2301. 

 

6.4 Resolved: 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 

discussion. 

 

 

 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Budget and Performance Committee 

Tuesday 5 March 2019 

 

 
 

7   Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

  

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That, subject to a decision on the Assembly Committee timetable to be made at the 

Annual Meeting  the provisional schedule of meetings proposed for 2019/20 be 

noted. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The next meeting of the Committee is provisionally scheduled for Tuesday 21 May 2019 at 

10.00am in Committee Room 5, City Hall, subject to confirmation at the London Assembly’s 

Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 
9.1 In accordance with section 100(B)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chairman 

agreed to accept the following as an item of urgent business to ensure that the Mayor of 
London’s Capital Spending Plan 2019/20 was received by the Committee at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
 
   Mayor of London's Capital Spending Plan 2019/20 (Item 9a) 

 
9.2 Resolved: 
 
 That the Mayor of London’s Capital Spending Plan 2019/20 be noted. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 
10.1 The meeting ended at 11.39 am. 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

Page 8



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Budget and Performance Committee – 5 March 2019 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – London & Partners  
 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  The main item of business today, is on London & Partners (L&P).  Could I 

welcome our guests today?  Laura Citron, whom many of us know, is the Chief Executive of L&P; and 

Andrew Cooke is the Managing Director of Operations and Governance.  Welcome, both of you, to the 

meeting. 

 

We are almost at the end of the first year of your three-year strategy.  How has it gone in the first year?  What 

do you think the key impacts have been since the introduction of the new strategy? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We are 11 months into the first 12 months of the 

first year of this three-year cycle, and I am pleased to report, even though the external situation has been for 

some of our work challenging this year [2018/19], overall we are performing well. 

 

If we look at our gross value added (GVA) targets, we are on track to meet our target for the year [2018/19], 

which is £190 million.  Year to date, we are at £192 million, and so we will come in the year just over target.  If 

we look at our leisure tourism and study work, there we have engagement targets, which, again, year to date it 

looks as though we will meet. 

 

I am pleased to say that in this first year, when we have made significant changes to the organisation itself, 

including restructure, significant changes to the leadership team, new ways of working, new technology, 

opening new teams in markets, at the same time as making all of that internal change, we have still been able 

to achieve the targets for the year. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You mentioned the reorganisation of the organisation.  How complete is 

that now? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  That is complete. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It is all bedded in? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  Now, I can remember when you launched your strategy.  You came in 

front of the Committee and we were asking you lots of almost forecasting-type questions, and one of them 

was around the decision to look at key markets and key sectors.  How has that gone? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  That has been really positive.  What we have done 

this year [2018/19] is add teams in new locations.  We now have teams in Paris, Berlin, Shenzhen, Bangalore, 

Chicago and Toronto that we did not have in the past.  That was a key plank of the new strategy, which was to 

be closer to our audiences so that we could work harder at finding the businesses that might think about 

investing in London earlier and work harder to convince them. 

 

Page 9



 

 
 

That has really paid dividends.  I can tell you, for example, that this year [2019], at the moment, the number of 

leads we have from Germany is 27.  Last year [2018] we had only 13.  That team has been up and running for 

only a few months.  In France it is 45 against 18.  Then, if I look at the offices outside the European Union 

(EU), Chicago: 58, Toronto: 39, Shenzhen: 26 and Bangalore: 22.  These are all businesses that we have 

engaged with when they are thinking about an international expansion so that we can work with them to 

convince them to come to London and to make a success of coming to London.  Had we not had those teams 

in place on the ground, we would not have been able to do that.  That has been really positive. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  What was the key thinking behind the five core markets that you selected? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Those five markets are North America, China, India, 

France and Germany.  They reflect the largest markets for London in the balance across trade, investment, 

higher education and tourism.  They also reflect the biggest growth opportunities for the future.  Particularly 

China and India we know are our fastest-growing tourist and student markets. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  What was the thinking behind the seven sectors that you selected? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  They reflect the sectors from the Mayor’s Economic 

Development Strategy. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It was trying to make it harmonious with a mayoral Strategy? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Yes.  Those are the broad sectors that were picked 

out in the Mayor’s Economic Development Strategy and, within those, we focus on much narrower subsectors 

where London has real competitive advantage.  For example, within the broad sector of financial and business 

services, we focus very much on financial technology: fintech, cybersecurity and cryptocurrencies, just to give 

you examples.  Within the broad sector of the creative industries, we focus on the areas where London has real 

competitive advantage, things like advertising technology, retail technology and so on.  In practice, we are 

quite focused on the narrower subsectors. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  When you are focusing on the sectors, are these sectors that you are 

proactively looking to generate leads and business in, or are these things that you are waiting for people to 

approach you on, if you understand the distinction between the two? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Absolutely.  This is where we are proactively going 

out and finding new leads.  This is where our team will be doing research to look at which companies in our 

core markets in those subsectors have recently had investment or are looking for investment.  That is often a 

sign that they are coming up to think about an international expansion and we will reach out proactively to 

those companies. 

 

Also, our teams in the markets would be attending sector-specific conferences and events to network and 

meet the companies there.  We would be constantly building out networks of people who could refer those 

businesses to us.  That might be venture capital companies or other kinds of investors, who would know that a 

company was thinking about an international expansion, or it might be professional advisers, lawyers, 

accountants and so on, who would often be the first people to know that a company is thinking about it.  By 

having deep networks in the markets with all of those players, our teams can get a heads-up early, can be 

referred the leads and can then follow up.  It is absolutely proactive. 

 

Page 10



 

 
 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  What about sectors outside the seven core sectors?  Would you turn away 

opportunities in those sectors?  If not, do you proactively look for any? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We would never turn away opportunities either 

outside the core sectors or indeed outside the core markets, and we were clear about that in the strategy.  

Reactively or responsively, if businesses come to us or are referred to us, of course we will service them and do 

our best to get them to land in London, but what we are doing with the new strategy is being much more 

focused in where we are putting our proactive resource, where we are going hunting, if you like. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, that makes sense.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You cannot underestimate the ripple effect of these teams.  I was saying to 

Andrew [Cooke] before we started that I regularly receive delegations and we have just had a request from a 

delegation from Vietnam.  One of the organisations there has asked us to see if they could meet somebody.  It 

was L&P.  Having a team there and that sort of connectedness around a region should not be underestimated 

at all.  Having the capacity to respond because, in fact, that is how business goes, by word of mouth.  I just 

wanted to feed that in, Chairman. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):   

In terms of performance measurement and reporting back, over the years there have been various attempts to 

improve on that.  I recognise that.  I suppose the key question will be how L&P will demonstrate its 

performance for 2018/19 with so few key performance indicators (KPIs) developed and a limited ability to 

compare those with previous performance.  What is your thinking around that and how would you demonstrate 

to outsiders your value and worth? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Perhaps it is worth sharing with the Committee that 

in the summary of the business plan we shared with you, there is a table in the Outcomes section that might be 

helpful to have as a reference.  It shows how the KPIs have developed in this period. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do we have this in front of us? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  I do not think 

they have that. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Do you not? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Do you have spare copies?  We do not have the minutes. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Apologies.  I thought you had this in your pack. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  No, they are not in our pack. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  No problem.  I will talk you through it and we can 

circulate it afterwards, if that is all right with you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That will be fine, yes. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We are clear that metrics are hugely important so 

that we can be held accountable for our performance and the way that we are spending taxpayers’ money and 

also to incentivise the focus and behaviour of our teams.  As you know, our strategy has changed and 2018/19 

is the first year of that, and so it is right that the metrics have changed so that we can be held to account for 

the way that we are delivering that new strategy.  The changes we have made make the metrics more aligned 

with the strategy, more robust and more accurate. 

 

I fully recognise that there is more we need to do to make them more understandable so that other 

stakeholders can hold us to account for them, and we are doing work at the moment and will do before we 

publish our final business plan to make those metrics as comprehensible and as transparent as we can.  Also, to 

give confidence in the numbers, we are going to commission for the year 2019/20 onwards an independent 

audit of our outcomes.  We are getting an independent auditor to come into L&P and verify all the data and 

evidence that sits behind the GVA and the engagement and the perception calculations. 

 

I hope that those measures together will give the Committee, as well as the wider Assembly and our other 

stakeholders, confidence in the robustness and credibility of our metrics. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  The metrics are wider than just the leisure and tourism outputs of L&P; 

they are the entire shebang? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Yes, we have metrics across all of the work we do 

and, where we have introduced new areas of work, we are rightly introducing new metrics so that we can be 

held to account for those new areas of work as well.  We have metrics for our trade and investment work, our 

business tourism and our major events work, and our higher education work.  For all of those, the metric is 

GVA.  For leisure tourism, also for higher education and for our work on London’s global reputation, we have 

engagement and perception targets. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  Part of the metrics is about your KPIs.  Within that, it sounds like you 

have settled all your KPIs for all throughout your organisation as well.  Is that true or is the metric slightly 

different? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  The metrics are the same for the whole of L&P.  

They are different for the different audiences.  The way we measure our impact for trade and investment is 

different to the way we measure our impact for leisure tourism. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  I get that.  Contained within the metrics, is a set of KPIs for all those 

sections of work that your organisation does? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Yes, if I understand your question correctly. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  They are final and they are correct and you have bottled them off?  The 

information we have is that you were still in the process of completing that.  That process has finished? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We were.  2018/19 was the transition year.  Some of 

them were already set for this year; some of them we have set during the year.  They are now set and from 

2019/20 they are fixed going forward, yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  These are the KPIs, not targets? 

Page 12



 

 
 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  The KPIs are how we measure it, and the targets for 

2019/20 will also be published in our business plan, yes. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  All of your KPIs have targets? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  All of our KPIs have targets against them. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  All ten?  Is that right? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I can confirm the exact number, but yes.  We have 

three types of KPI: GVA, engagement and perception.  We measure them across the different audiences. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes.  Measuring activity is not the same as setting a target.  The activity 

should get you to the target, but they all have targets? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  They all have targets. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Let us turn to targets, then, because some of your targets in recent years 

you can easily outperform.  How stretching are your new targets, from your point of view, and has that been 

independently validated as well to say, “This is quite fair.  These are stretching targets”? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is a good question and it is quite difficult to set 

targets, particularly around the trade and investment work, at this point because the macro context is quite 

unknown.  Our GVA target for our trade and investment work next year [2019/20] is the same as the target for 

this year [2018/19].  Depending on the outcome of the Brexit deal, that may be a very challenging target to 

meet or it may not be.  It depends what happens and so that is why we have held it consistent with this year, 

but we are aware that we will have to review that depending on what happens.  That is a stretching target and 

this year we have just made the target.  It is £190 million and year to date, with two weeks left of the year, we 

are at £192 million.  I have to say that the teams have put in a heroic effort to get to that number this year.  

Yes, that has really stretched us and we have had to seriously deploy resources very hard to meet that target, 

yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you just remind us within that?  How are you monitoring the 

performance of overseas officers?  How do we know we are getting value for money and they are working in 

the right way? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Our overseas officers are part of the team with the 

London team and a lot of the businesses they work with will be looked after both by someone in the market - 

and that is helpful because they know them, they can see them locally, they can speak to them in their 

language - and also by someone in London who is a specialist in the sector in which they work.  Those are very 

much joint teams between London and the market. 

 

To answer the specific question, from an inward investment point of view, we look at the number of leads that 

those officers are generating and I have shared those with you.  We are really pleased with, in the short space 

of time, how many new business leads those teams have gone and found.  Those teams will also support 

Page 13



 

 
 

inbound trade, London-based companies that want to export or do business into those markets.  They will also 

be supporting those and the achievement of that will be picked up through the GVA numbers for trade, which 

is through the Mayor’s International Business Programme.  We can capture all of what they are doing. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  I have a couple of tidying-up points in terms of some of this section.  

It is really about how you present things.  There does not appear to be any narrative or commentary to support 

the published KPIs in terms of the raw data.  Can you commit to producing some commentary on the 

performance against KPIs in future reporting?  It would be helpful for us to have your commentary alongside 

it. 

 

Also, are there any plans to publish quarterly financial performance against budgets?  Can we look at that as a 

scrutiny body and see that in your quarterly financial performance, yes? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  On the first point, absolutely.  As I said, I fully 

acknowledge that we have more work to do to make our KPIs better communicated and easier for people to 

understand.  We will work on that.  I am very happy to add a narrative.  If Committee Members have other 

suggestions or feedback on how we can present this data better, then I would really genuinely welcome that 

and so please do let us know. 

 

I will pass over to Andrew on the quarterly financial reporting. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  That is a good 

point and it is certainly something we can take back to our Audit and Finance Committee to discuss. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  Let us go back to your Quarter 2 report for 2018/19.  Your quarterly 

performance report shows that the proportion of resources that are not Greater London Authority (GLA) grant 

is only 36%.  This has been contentious over the years with what it is. 

 

Does that figure go up and down at different times?  Also, why is this?  Is that really what the proportion is: 

60:40? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No, the target 

we have - and we have a target in that area - is to have a minimum of 50% of non-GLA resources.  It does vary 

during the year.  Quite a large proportion of that 50% is value in kind that we get from campaign activity.  

Earlier in the year we had not done a large amount of campaign activity.  Since then, we launched our 

London-Paris tourism campaign, which has generated quite a lot of value in kind.  At the current moment, we 

think we are close to that 50% and we are aiming to achieve that this year [2018/19], but again it is going to 

be quite tight and to the wire. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  That is the broad, overall figure.  I presume in your various sections of 

worksome of that would be more important to see that ratio between public-sector support versus what you 

lever in from the different sections you are working with.  With that information, can you break it down to 

that? 

 

The university sector spends a lot of money on overseas recruitment of students.  We are spending lots of 

money.  Are they spending it separately for the university or are they doing it for the sector?  You are doing it 

for the sector.  Is it not time that we levered in some of that money from universities to do it for the sector, not 

just for their own university but the London brand in higher education?  Does it work like that or have I made 

Page 14



 

 
 

it too simple?  Do I have it wrong and should I be seeing something around an effort to say, “Come on, 

university sector.  You are spending this money.  We could spend it more wisely together on targeted 

campaigns that would be good for London universities and your own university”?  Discuss. 

 

I have only used that one.  I could think of many other examples in your work, but should we not be then 

judging you about the ratio between our spend and their spend and whether we are getting a good bang for 

our buck? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Just on that 

higher education piece, we spend a very modest amount of money on higher education.  It is about £250,000 a 

year.  We are spending that on, as you say, is the London brand and it is through our website at 

studylondon.ac.uk.  We are really engaging those potential students in terms of how great it is to study in 

London.  What each university is doing is, clearly, pushing their university as a great place to study.  We make 

referrals through our website to individual universities. 

 

We have in the past looked at marketing activity with subsets of London universities, mainly those that are not 

in the Russell group, where they have come together with a consortium and have funded that, and we have 

then done marketing activity for them.  There does not seem to be a demand from the universities for us to do 

that at the moment. 

 

Len Duvall AM (Deputy Chair):  That was just an example, but can we not see a breakdown of that, even in 

small amounts of money?  It is about making that money work hard for the task it is meant to do.  I would like 

to see what that ratio is.  I may have chosen a wrong example.  There may well be better ones in tourism and 

leisure where we are putting in X but what is the hospitality and tourism industry putting in to maximise that 

take? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The way to do 

that, as it does vary during the year, is to look at that in our annual review and it is something we have 

committed to do in terms of providing more of a breakdown of spend in our annual review.  We can look at 

how we break down the non-GLA grant as part of that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I am thrilled to hear that you have the KPIs and they have all been done and sorted now.  

Could you send this Committee a copy of your KPIs, possibly with some sort of narrative so that it can fit into 

what we are looking at? 

 

When you talked about the foreign offices, you read off a number of leads.  This is something I have always 

been concerned about.  From one of the many meetings we have had, it is a success if you attend meetings, I 

have been told.  Does that go, then, into the matrix as a success if you attend a meeting?  Is a lead literally 

attending a meeting or just meeting up with somebody or is a lead something when you are actually putting 

people together? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We have quite a clear definition of what a lead is, 

and we have different stages of our engagement with a company.  I am very happy to share that with you. 

 

In any case, we do not claim leads as an outcome metric at all.  We know that it is necessary for us to generate 

leads, which is meeting companies that are interested in expanding internationally that we think we can 

convince to come to London in order that they eventually convert and that generates jobs and GVA for London 

and for Londoners.  We only claim it at all if they actually do come to London and fill in a form that says that 

Page 15



 

 
 

they have done that.  The leads are for us, if you like.  They are an internal metric that we use to be able to 

forecast how we think we are doing and to be able to see how well our teams are going out proactively, but 

they are not an outcome metric and we would not suggest that that is a robust metric for you to use to hold us 

to account. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  You mentioned leads when you were talking about the foreign offices.  How many 

successes have come from that, not leads but actually something concrete? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  From the new international teams, there is a small 

number of conversions this year [2018/19], but that is normal -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How many? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I can get back to you with the exact number, but we 

would expect that because of the time it usually takes from meeting a company as a lead to that company 

setting up in London is about 18 months. 

 

We have seen that time get longer.  Our average time from a lead to a conversion was 390 days last year 

[2017/18] and it has gone up to 490 days this year [2018/19].  That reflects the more competitive 

environment that we are in.  Companies are taking more time to make decisions.  We are having to work harder 

in that process to get them over the line.  We would expect to see the investment in the new offices coming 

through in the GVA numbers next year [2019/20] and even more the year after that [2020/21].  It is a long-

term investment. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Just a couple of tidy-ups in this section before we move on from me.  Just 

on that subject initially, it is very difficult when you have things that convert and it takes more than 12 months 

because I appreciate that that can skew figures one way or the other.  Do you set, for your own management 

purposes, internal targets of conversions from leads to successes and, if so, how do you measure that? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Internally for our management purposes, we set lead 

targets looking at different sectors and different markets.  Conversion targets are difficult because they 

depend on a lot of different things, but we certainly track conversion and we look carefully at it.  If we have 

won, what do we think we did that helped us to win?  If we did not and the business chose to go somewhere 

else, why did they do that? 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  If I were to ask you what your percentage of conversions from leads is at the 

moment - and I appreciate there are different markets in different parts of the world and different sectors - on 

average, what is it? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I cannot tell you off the top of my head, but I would 

like to write to you with the exact number if that is all right. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  That is perfectly fine. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is about a third. 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  About a third?  OK.  That is one of the things that we will sweep up in the 

exchange of letters afterwards because that is quite an interesting one.  If you can break it down by market 

and by sector, it would also be quite illuminating. 

 

The other thing I was going to ask you is about how often your targets are reviewed.  How often do you review 

them?  Do you review them in-year?  Do you publish different targets at different times? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  In a normal year, we would not be reviewing a target 

in-year.  We would expect the target to be set at the start of the year.  Next year [2019/20], as I mentioned, 

we may want to go back and review targets depending on what the outcome around Brexit is.  That may not 

prove necessary, but it might be an unusual year.  This year, as you know, we have set some targets during the 

course of the year because it is a transition year, but that is exceptional.  Typically, no is the answer. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  It goes to Assembly Member [Len] Duvall’s question about whether you are 

setting yourself stretching enough targets.  The one I am going to pick up on is the brand target, the regional 

engagement target. 

 

In your Quarter 2 performance report, there was not a target set, but the status was £2.95 million in 

engagements across all business lines.  This is your Quarter 3 review of targets, which came out last night, you 

are now sitting at £4.3 million.  The first time we have seen a target for this activity is in this report and the 

target set is £2.5 million.  It is lower than what you had already achieved at the end of Quarter 2. 

 

That plays into the narrative that the targets are not stretching enough.  It is great that you have exceeded it 

and £4.3 million sounds like a lot, but it is not a metric that means much if you are not stretching yourself.  Do 

you see where I am going with that?  I just wonder if you could comment on that. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Thank you.  Yes, engagement, as you know, is a new 

metric for us this year [2018/19] and we are trying to find benchmarks that we can use to forecast.  Next 

year’s [2019/20] targets are more stretching, but even every day at the moment as we have live activity we are 

getting new data and new information that will help us to set targets and to forecast.  We have more stretching 

metrics in the 2019/20 targets, but I am happy to look at them again and to write to you after this meeting. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, if you could.  Just to take that one example, it looks from this side of 

the table as though you have set yourself a target that you had already achieved.  In here, “Exceeded 173% of 

year-to-date target”.  The first time we have seen a target in any publishable document is in the Quarter 3 

report when you knew you had already exceeded it.  The point that is being made to you is that there is very 

little point in setting yourself a target if you already know you are going to do it -- 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I understand. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  -- because it is not really demonstrating value for the money that is going 

into your organisation.  If you could pick that up in the exchange of letters, it would be quite useful. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I am happy to. 

 

.   

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I wanted to go back to a point that Assembly Member [Len] Duvall raised about 

education.  Andrew [Cooke], your answer was that it is a small amount that you allocate to this area and I just 

want to put that into context.  Is that because we are surrounded by some really high-powered universities 

that have huge outreach programmes to, say, the Far East?  I am not sure whether they are recruiting in 

Germany, but certainly in China, India and South America.  Have you acknowledged, therefore, that you have 

bigger players in that field and therefore this is the right amount?  If that is the case, is it worth it?  I am just 

aware that some of these big players are talking about millions and huge teams.  If you are not putting in 

enough to compete, do you always then have something in your business plan that you are not going to 

achieve very well? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  You are absolutely right.  Some London universities 

are huge global brands and have big international marketing teams and big international marketing budgets: 

Central St Martin’s, the London School of Economics, Imperial [College London], University College London 

(UCL), King’s College London.  However, there are 45 universities in London and many of them do not have 

the scale of international marketing capability of some of the big international players.  We work particularly 

with those universities, as Andrew [Cooke] was saying, outside of the Russell Group.  They really appreciate the 

support we give them because they have fewer international students and the international students are very 

important for those universities. 

 

The large, well-known international universities in London are hugely important to London’s global reputation 

and are a real draw for businesses.  Businesses come to us and they say, “We want to come to London because 

we want to set up an artificial intelligence research and development centre.  Please introduce us to UCL and 

Imperial [College London] so that we can talk to them”.  There is brokering that we do with universities on the 

inward investment side, but I would not underestimate the work we do on the broader London offer for the 

wider set of London universities. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  OK.  That makes sense to me.  I was just a bit confused as to how a small amount 

was worthwhile, but that was a good answer.  Thank you. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  It is also worth 

saying that whilst it is a small amount, it is actually the most efficient part of our business in terms of the 

return on investment we get for that small amount.  If we increased the amount, the returns would probably 

diminish.  We think it is the right amount to be putting into that activity. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  I want to ask you about how you do these calculations, which are largely based on survey 

results.  The usual question people ask about surveys is about how many have taken part and what the 

response rate is and also how representative the results are of the population as a whole. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We only count GVA for companies that complete a 

survey.  We do not use a sampling methodology.  The GVA number that we claim is the sum of the GVA for 

every company that we have supported that has completed a survey to confirm that we have supported them. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  It is a specific number? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is a specific number.  It is not a sample.  There are 

businesses that perhaps we have supported during the year that for whatever reason have not completed a 

survey.  Those numbers are not there.  You do not see that in our GVA number. 

 

Page 18



 

 
 

Unmesh Desai AM:  All right.  You use variables in terms of doing the survey.  How often do you revisit the 

variables? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Yes, there are variables in the methodology and the 

calculation that is done that converts jobs to GVA.  Those are revisited periodically.  We should write to you 

with exactly which ones are reviewed at which intervals because it is not the same for all of them. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Actually, I was going to ask you that question then.  There is a section on transparency 

after my set of questions, but would you be able to give us the information not just about what you just said 

but about the details behind your calculations in writing in due course and on a regular basis? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I am happy to.  We also published in the autumn a 

full paper that set out the complete methodology including all the changes that we had made from the 

previous methodology, which includes the ways in which we have updated some of those variables.  I am happy 

to circulate that paper again. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  All right.  Very specifically on something I have tried to work my head around, you review 

the jobs in year one and then you look at the jobs in year three.  I was just trying to look at the briefing we 

have been given.  How often do you visit the year-three job estimates and do you make retrospective changes 

to reported figures when estimates differ significantly? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We ask companies when they complete with us how 

many year-one jobs they have created and how many year-three jobs they expect to create.  We ask them for 

their forecast.  We also survey historically businesses we have worked with to look at how many jobs they have 

actually created.  We know that entrepreneurs of course are optimistic characters and sometimes what they 

predict for their three-year jobs will not be correct.  We know the ratio between what they typically tell us their 

three-year jobs will be and what they actually are.  That is what we call an over-optimism bias.  We discount 

whatever they claim upfront by the over-optimism bias and so we are accounting for the fact that all of the 

jobs they claim may not actually come to fruition.  That is accounted for in our methodology.  The process we 

use for doing that is explained in the methodology paper that we published in the autumn [of 2018], which I 

will circulate after this meeting. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Just looking at your methodology as a whole, do you think there is any room for 

improvement? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  The changes we have made make our methodology 

more robust and more accurate and I believe it is now an industry-leading methodology.  In fact, the 

Department for International Trade is now adopting elements of our methodology to improve theirs.  At the 

moment, I am confident that our methodology is solid.  That said, there is always room to improve and I would 

expect us to be reviewing the methodology in a few years’ time to see how we can further improve it.  Also, as 

technology improves and we get new data sources, sometimes that opens up new ways of evaluating. 

 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  You said right at the beginning that you calculate your GVA on companies 

that complete the survey, which seems reasonable.  Do you keep data on the number of companies you are 

liaising with at any point in time and then compare that to the number of companies that do complete the 

survey? 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We should be able to get that.  Let me write to you.  

We would know how many companies -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  What I am interested in is the average response rate.  Let us say, for 

example, you speak to 100 companies and 20 of them respond to the survey and 18 of those respond 

favourable.  Then you would say that your strike rate is very good and you would focus on those 18, but 82 

maybe did not and that could change your figures quite considerably.  I am interested in why people would 

complete the survey and how many are choosing to do so after interaction with you and how many are not. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is slightly misleading that we are calling it a survey.  

It is a survey in the sense that it is a questionnaire, but we call it a completion form.  It is not a survey that we 

send out to everybody at the same time.  Our teams work with a company for one, two or three years.  When 

the company finishes its expansion into London, has set up a legal entity and has employed its first person, we 

say, “You have now set up in London.  Thank you.  Congratulations.  Please could you now complete this form 

to confirm what you have done with your three-year job numbers, the impact we have had on you and any 

feedback?”  That is then sent back to us.  Our teams work very hard to get as many as possible of the 

businesses we have helped to set up in London to do a completion form because it goes into our GVA numbers 

and, as you can see, we have to work really hard to achieve that and so that is high.  It is not a survey with a 

response rate in that sense. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes, indeed, but there is no obligation for anybody to fill out your form.  In 

order to understand and get behind the GVA number, it is useful from a scrutineer point of view to understand 

how many actually respond, which is why I asked you the question about how many people on average fill it 

out.  Your GVA numbers are entirely dependent on people filling out that form, are they not?  Perhaps if you 

could cover that when you write to us, it would be quite useful.  It would be quite illuminating if we could get 

that.  

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  .  What work have you done with Theo Blackwell [Chief Digital Officer, GLA]and 

his team to look at how you are using data and what other data might be available and to improve your 

methodology? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We work with Theo and the Chief Digital Officer’s 

team quite closely I will admit not on our measurement where we work with GLA Economics.  They are 

scrutinising and have given a lot of robust feedback on our methodology to help us to improve it.  We work 

with the Chief Digital Officer closely on inward investment and trade because he has an important role as an 

advocate and a spokesperson for London because he is pioneering the use of innovative technologies in 

London, and also in terms of how London can be open and easy to access for urban technology, cleantech and 

govtech companies that work in and around the public sector in London.  We work closely with him and he is 

very supportive of our work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Presumably he has some role looking at data and things as well and using data.  

Have you had any conversations or would you consider having conversations to see what he could bring that 

might add value to what you are doing? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  That is a great idea.  We will.  Thank you. 

Susan Hall AM:  Would it not be a better idea to get somebody completely independent and give them all the 

names of the companies you have worked with and get them to write to those companies?  Then they might 

be more likely to respond back, favourably or not.  We would know exactly how many people you are 

Page 20



 

 
 

interacting with or not.  There would be a completely independent set of figures coming back.  That would be 

far better to rely on if it is a completely independent look at how well you are or are not doing. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We are planning to conduct an independent audit of 

our results, inviting an independent auditor to come in and look at all of the evidence that makes up the GVA 

number. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, I have read that, sorry, but would it not be better if an independent company did that in 

the first place, sent out some sort of questionnaire or whatever else to these companies? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We can look at that.  Our experience would suggest 

that companies share this information on the basis of trust and the relationship they have with the individual 

account manager who has worked with them and held their hand as they have taken this leap of faith to 

expand into London.  A lot of the reason that we can get them to share this quite sensitive information with us 

is because we have an existing relationship with them and they trust that we are acting in their interests to 

support them to be successful in London. 

 

We could look at having that conducted by an independent body, but I would be concerned that we would lose 

very significant numbers of respondents if we did that. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  That has 

happened in the past.  I previously worked at Think London, where the London Development Agency (LDA) 

did conduct surveys.  We used the methodology that we have just described, but periodically the LDA would 

carry out surveys of historic performance.  The main issue there was changes in personnel within the company 

when the person who made the decision was no longer at the company and could not verify the decision.  That 

is where you then get a drop in terms of lower results.  It is a valid methodology, but we think ours is probably 

the most robust because we are asking the companies at the time when they are making their decisions and it 

is a methodology that most other agencies use as well. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I have said before that that does not always make it right.  It is sometimes good to get 

independent views, in my view. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Transparency is something we talk about right across our committees here at 

City Hall and it is something that we often have been concerned about, particularly with agencies that work 

with the GLA and the Mayor.  You have recently been consulting on your transparency policy.  Do you want to 

update us on whom you went out to consult with, the response rate you had and any emerging results from 

that, please? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes, I am very 

happy to.  As you say, we have with our Board decided to develop a transparency policy and to consult on that.  

There was a public consultation and we also reached out to key stakeholders including Assembly Members, our 

partners and some of our clients as well.  We had nine responses back to the consultation.  Three were from 

Assembly Members including you, Assembly Member [Susan] Hall - thank you very much for that - and you, 

Assembly Member [Caroline] Pidgeon.  We also had three responses from our tourism partners and some of our 

business partners and a couple of other responses including from Transport for London (TfL). 

 

As a result of those responses, we have amended some of the recommendations within the policy and, from 

April [2019] onwards, we are going to be publishing all expenditure over £250.  We will publish a more 

Page 21



 

 
 

comprehensive annual review, which will include a much more detailed breakdown of our expenditure against 

business lines.  It will also include the results of the independent audit we have just mentioned.  We will publish 

details of all the companies that we have helped currently.  The companies that we have helped with our trade 

and growth programmes will be on our website, but we will be publishing the details of all the companies 

including foreign direct investment companies, except when they have asked for their details to be kept 

confidential. 

 

We are going to be adopting public procurement regulations and will be publishing details of tenders on either 

Contracts Finder or the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) as appropriate.  We will also be 

publishing details of senior staff with numbers of salary within salary brackets and will be publishing full 

minutes of our Board meetings, the terms of reference of the L&P board and its committees, and also 

delegation of authority of decision-making. 

 

Finally, we will make it much easier to find that information on our website, as we know it is not the most user-

friendly journey to find that information currently. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  There is a lot there and so I am going to try to ask some further questions. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Of course. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Apologies.  I was trying to scribble down all the points you were making. 

 

In the consultation document, it regularly talked about, “In the future we are going to do this”, and, “In the 

future we are going to do that”.  Is the timetable you set as of 1 April [2019] this will all be done, or is it 

staggered throughout the year? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The intention 

is to publish as much of the information as we can by 1 April [2019].  We will be adopting the public 

procurement regulations from 1 April [2019].  It is going to take a little longer for us to change our website 

and how that works and where that information will be found.  It will be on the website, but there is a broader 

programme in terms of how we refresh the design of the site. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  There is a lot of stuff from 1 April [2019].  Will you be able to then at 

some point look through the issues of the website and then give us a timescale for - because obviously this is a 

new plan for you; you have a strategy - when you are going to implement all of these considerable changes? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That would be very helpful.  Let me go through a few other things.  You talked 

about how you are going to publish full minutes of Board meetings.  Is this also going to be for your 

committees and subcommittees? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The Board has 

agreed to publish the minutes of Board meetings currently. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Not your committees and subcommittees? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No. 

Page 22



 

 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Why not? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The view is 

that, in drawing up this policy, there were three areas that we wanted to abide by, I suppose.  That is 

respecting the confidentiality of the commercial information relating to our clients and partners; secondly, 

ensuring that any of the additional measures did not cause an undue cost burden; and thirdly, ensuring that it 

did not conflict with our corporate governance as a company limited by guarantee.  I think that the decision 

was that this was the right balance in terms of transparency in terms of what was discussed at Board meetings.  

Each of those committees report back to the main Board and so there would be information from the 

committees at the main Board meeting, which would appear in the Board minutes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  TfL we had to drag kicking and screaming to meet in public with its panels and 

subcommittees.  In fact, I remember my former colleague Valerie Shawcross [CBE, former AM and Deputy 

Mayor for Transport] went and sat in one and was removed from the meeting until we had the legislation 

changed so that it is treated like a local authority.  Surely you could use that practice of how they operate so 

that commercial stuff of course is not in the public domain but we have a much more detailed idea of what is 

being discussed.  Would that be something that L&P could do to lead the way and show that you are being 

transparent in your work? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  As I said, there 

is this balance in terms of us being transparent and our governance on the basis that we were set up as a 

company limited by guarantee. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Would you be able to set out for me in writing what it is in how you are set up 

that means you could not do what I am proposing and what it is that absolutely prevents you from doing that? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We can 

certainly discuss that with the Board. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are saying, “How we have been set up prevents us from doing that”. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  I have not said 

it prevents us.  I have said it is the decision of the Board. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  I do not understand how it conflicts with that setup. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  Yes.  It would be quite useful to do exactly as Assembly Member Pidgeon 

has just suggested and write to us and explain why.  On the one hand, I have sympathy with your argument 

around being set up as a company limited by a guarantee and balancing that against more than 50% of your 

funding coming directly from the taxpayer.  That is perennially the tension and, from a scrutiny point of view, it 

has taken a very long time for L&P to get to the point where we are even getting Board stuff in the public 

domain.  Of course, there is transparency and then there is the appearance of transparency and there is a 

tension between those two things as well. 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  All you have committed to is to publish your full minutes of Board meetings.  

Will you also be making the meeting agendas and papers public? 

 

Page 23



 

 
 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  That is not the 

intention currently. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is not remotely transparent, therefore, what you are putting forward.  It is a 

tokenistic attempt to say, “Look at us.  We publish Board minutes”.  I trawl over TfL papers and that is why I 

often find out what is going on, looking at those subcommittees, looking at that detail.  Obviously I do not 

know the price of contracts and the commercial stuff.  That is in the confidential papers.  Surely, as an agency 

that gets significant funding from the Mayor and the public sector, you should be publishing everything so 

that the public can see what you are doing. 

 

Do you not accept that?  You are the new Chief Executive, Laura.  Do you not accept that? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  This is the most significant change to the corporate 

governance and transparency of L&P since it was founded in 2011 and we have made these changes because 

we recognise and we have heard your legitimate concerns as Assembly Members about our transparency and 

our corporate governance.  I hope that the changes that the Board has agreed to do address at least some of 

those concerns.  We can take your further suggestions back to the Board for a further conversation and I am 

happy for us to do that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Let us move on.  There is a lot more to cover.  The consultation document 

says you are going to ensure transparency information is updated on the website every six months.  Could you 

not do that just after every Board meeting and committee meeting so that we can review things in real time? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Certainly Board 

minutes will go up within a reasonable timeframe after Board meetings.  We will not wait six months to do that 

and our quarterly reports we will update quarterly.  In terms of reviewing the totality of information on there, 

we will do a thorough review every six months.  That is the intention. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Is the correspondence handling policy and process going to go as far as if 

you were covered by the Freedom of Information Act (FOI)? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No, it will not 

because we are not covered by the FOI Act. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Will you review that so that you could act as though you were and provide that 

full information? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We can review 

that against the correspondence, but I am not familiar with what it is under for FOI. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Now, you did go through quite a lot of issues that I was trying to scribble 

down.  On the projects that you have directly supported, will you be providing specific details outlining the 

benefits that your involvement has brought?  Is that going to be information that will be available? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We will not be 

doing that for every project.  We will be providing details of the individual companies we have supported and 

we will continue to provide details of specific case studies on our website as well. 

 

Page 24



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK, but you will not be doing that for every project you are involved with? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You also mentioned earlier that if a company says it does not want to be named 

as having had your help, you will not name them.  Is that not a bit odd?  Why would an organisation if it has 

worked with you not want to name that it has worked with you? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The majority 

do, but there are some companies that prefer to keep that information confidential. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I find that rather odd.  In terms of your contracts, could you just say what you 

are changing in terms of what you are publishing to do with contracts? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We will be 

following the public procurement regulations.  That means every contract that goes out to tender will be 

published on Contracts Finder and those that are over the OJEU threshold will be advertised through OJEU. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Is there a barrier to publishing a register of all your contracts, not limited to just 

those over £150,000, and the contracts themselves being out there in the public domain? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  That is not 

something that we are proposing to do at the moment.  We did not get -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Why not?  In this era of transparency, you are consulting on it.  You are keen to 

improve your reputation in this field.  Why would you not do this?  This is something that certainly the Budget 

and Performance Committee has previously recommended. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Some of those 

contracts are commercially confidential. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  All right, but you can redact some things in them. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is important for us to remember that L&P was set 

up under the previous administration as a not-for-profit company and there are reasons that that was done in 

order that we could be strategically aligned with the Mayor but operationally independent.  That is what gives 

us the ability to work in the ways that we do. 

 

The changes we are proposing now, which we have consulted on, are very significant changes and an 

improvement in our transparency.  I recognise that you would like us to go further and we can take that back 

to the Board, but this is a very strong set of changes that we are proposing now and that is very meaningful for 

us in terms of the transparency within our organisation. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are coming from such a low base and it may be a big step for you, but the 

reality is that you are years behind most other organisations that receive public money.  It does not feel like it 

is going far enough at all. 

 

Page 25



 

 
 

Let us look at a couple of other things.  Would you consider publishing your decision-making framework 

alongside your terms of reference for all your Boards, subcommittees and the delegation of authority? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes.  The 

decision-making framework would be within that delegation of authority. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That will be published? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes, it will. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  From 1 April [2019]? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Can you also give us more clarity around trade visits and delegations?  I 

know you are involved in those, but what I am not clear about is the outcome from those trade visits.  Are you 

able to give us greater transparency around those as part of these changes? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  The outcomes of trade delegations and visits, as I am 

sure you will appreciate, first of all, can sometimes be quite long-term and, second of all, often the outcome is 

not something that you can put a number on but contributes to something much wider. 

 

To give you an example, the Mayor was in Paris in November [2018] and conducted a series of high-level 

meetings with business leaders, state actors and political leaders.  As a result of his interventions, which 

demonstrated how important London sees its relationship with Paris, he opened very senior relationships for us 

that our local team has then been able to follow up.  We have been able to build long-term partnerships with 

organisations in France, which will be over the long term - and already are - referring us inward investment 

leads and supporting London businesses when they go into France, for example.  That is a really significant 

step change for us in our ability to work really well with our Parisian and wider French counterparts, which 

would not have been possible without the officers of the Mayor being in Paris and taking those meetings. 

 

Sometimes trade delegations will lead directly over months or years to specific deals.  That absolutely can 

happen and does happen, though it takes a while for them to come through.  However, often the importance 

of the city-to-city relationships cannot be underestimated and the visits also play a really important role in 

buildings those. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Say you do a trade visit with the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor or whoever, say the 

Paris one.  Are you able to publish, “This was the cost of the visit.  These are the people who went.  These are 

the top-level meetings that we had”?  Longer term, it may well be that you would have to then look back and 

see what deals were made and what directly came from that and what, therefore, the total financial benefit to 

London was, but surely just that basic information early on you could publish - perhaps it is the technology 

sector you are really trying to work on or the arts and culture sector or whatever - so that we can really 

understand what it is you are trying to get out of that. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We could put that narrative in our annual report, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  You mentioned earlier in the list of things, Andrew, that you reeled off 

that you are going to be publishing bandings of salaries.  Can you tell me a bit more about that, please? 

Page 26



 

 
 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes.  The 

intention is to produce salary brackets of £10,000 and the number of staff within each of those brackets. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  When will that be?  From 1 April [2019]? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Fantastic.  Finally, something the Assembly has asked about for a long time.  

We clearly have issues with your transparency and how you work.  We find it quite difficult to understand.  I 

know you have tried to improve that, but we find it difficult to understand your methodologies and what goes 

on.  Would you consider appointing an Assembly Member to your Board as an unpaid observer so that we can 

really understand the work you are doing and what benefits you give to London? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  That is a question of governance.  The composition 

of our Board is a question of governance, which is for the Mayor and for the Board, but the Board did consider 

it in 2018 and deemed that it was not appropriate.  That was really because by being involved in our decision-

making it might compromise your important roles as scrutineers of L&P. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is a decision the Board came to.  How would you feel if the Mayor’s office 

did choose to appoint an Assembly Member?  Would you welcome that?  Would you find that helpful?  

Obviously, that Assembly Member could not then be scrutinising you.  We used to have this in the past.  We 

used to have a member on the LDA.  That did not stop the Assembly doing our work, but it did give, hopefully, 

maybe some insight. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  If that is the decision of the Mayor and the Board, 

we would welcome it. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  In the context of that, the statutory Deputy Mayor is an Assembly Member 

[Joanne McCartney AM].  The Deputy Mayor for Fire [and Resilience] is an Assembly Member [Dr Fiona 

Twycross AM].  The former Deputy Mayor for Police and Crime was an Assembly Member [Kit Malthouse].  It is 

not in any way a bar on scrutiny for Members of the Assembly to be members of the governance side of any of 

the mayoral agencies.  It has precedent all over the place.  It is not a legitimate defence to say, “Well, that 

would prevent you from being able to scrutinise”.  It just does not stack up.  As I said, there are precedents all 

over the Boards.  That is an answer we have heard many times from L&P in the past.  We did not accept it then 

and we do not accept it now. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  You keep saying that it was set up in this way to get to 50%.  I have spoken to the people 

who set up L&P.  The idea was that the public purse, taxpayers’ money, would fund 50% with the aim that 

L&P used its commercial opportunities to increase the private money coming in.  It seems to be going in a 

different direction because we have about 63% being funded by taxpayers, which is why we are so concerned 

about transparency.  It is our job to make sure that taxpayers’ money is spent correctly.  We seem to be having 

the same disagreements time and time again with the constant comment, “I will go back and ask the Board”, 

and then it kicks it all into the long grass again. 

 

A couple of confirmations, if I can.  On your consultation and transparency policy, one sentence: 

 

Page 27



 

 
 

“We propose to publish an organisational chart for senior staff covering staff in the top three levels of 

the organisation with the following information: grade, job title, department, team, permanent or 

temporary, and minimum salaries of each level.” 

 

Is that a typo?  I would rather know the maximum salary of a level. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Following the 

consultation, this was brought up as part of consultation in a recommendation that we should publish salary 

brackets and that is what we are now proposing to do.  That will be amended. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  I am very surprised that that was in there at all because that tells you absolutely 

nothing, the minimum amount that somebody is getting. 

 

The recent consultation document also said that you will conduct an independent audit.  Who will the 

independent auditors be and how will they be selected? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We will go out 

to tender and procure those auditors. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  When are you going to do that? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We will start 

that process soon. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  You are going to start the £250 published expenditure.  When will that start? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We will start 

collecting the data from 1 April [2019] and then publish it quarterly. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Good.  Going back to something Assembly Member [Caroline] Pidgeon brought up, I also 

find it very peculiar that people would not want their information given out.  I have brought this up with you 

before.  If people are prepared to take free help and free advice - it is not free, of course; taxpayers are paying 

for it - could that not be part of the deal, “We will have to publish information about you”?  Perhaps you could 

switch it over to your commercial side and then charge them.  Lots of companies in London charge for the sort 

of service that you give.  Why can that not be done?  I have asked before. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  It is something 

that we do and we have those conversations with parties when we sign them up to say, “We would like to 

collect the information from you in terms of your investment at the end of the term and we would like to 

publish details of the help we have given”.  Some though at the end say that they would prefer to keep it 

confidential.  It is a very small number but we feel we need to respect that confidentiality. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is not good enough.  If you tell them upfront that that is what you are going to do, that 

is unacceptable, is it not?  With respect, it is taxpayers’ money.  You are saying, “We will give you free help”, 

because it is free to them.  It is not free to us.  If you are giving that information in the beginning properly, 

then they have no right to retain it.  Is that not right? 

 

Page 28



 

 
 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We will review how we communicate with new clients 

when we bring them on board to make it clear that that is our expectation.  What we are proposing to publish 

is the list of all of the companies that we have supported.  I take your point about it not being acceptable for 

them to say that they refuse to be in that list. 

 

We also ask them for a bunch of information that is very commercially sensitive about their jobs in year one 

and their three-year job forecasts and that they provide to us on the expectation that that is confidential and 

that that will not be published.  However, you are right that there should be an expectation that the fact that 

they have received our free support is public. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  We have agreed that before and so I do not really know why we are even having that debate.  

You have agreed that before.  I just do not understand.  If this was a proper company, there would be no 

question about this.  If you make a deal at the beginning, then you see that through.  I am also not always 

convinced that how many people work for you is something that they would want to keep quiet.  Why would 

they if you have a business?  There would be very few businesses that would be ashamed to say that they have 

an extra 100 members of staff. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Yes, and those 

where they are very happy to do that, we publish case studies -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  No, I cannot think of any reason.  Give me a couple of really good reasons as to why people 

would not want people to know how many staff they have working for them? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  How many staff they have working for them today is 

a very important piece of competitive information.  They may be trying to give the market perhaps the 

impression that they are larger than they are.  They might not want the market to know where they have 

deployed their resources, such as how many people they have in London versus their other international 

locations, for example. 

 

In terms of their three-year job forecasts, that is highly sensitive because they are making a forecast about 

what -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I can understand some of that, but I cannot understand a lot of it.  Sometimes it feels like 

L&P is hiding behind a cloud of transparency that we feel we should be getting through.  Given the millions of 

pounds of taxpayers’ money that is going to you to deal with, we feel we should be given far more 

transparency.  I will leave it at that. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  There is a difference, surely, between working with an organisation and being 

able to publish that organisation’s name and the detailed business information of that organisation.  Is there 

not a difference?  I really do not understand the difficulty.  Surely your own brand is dependent on companies 

having trust in you. 

 

How do you move from working in an open way with a company to a position where you would then dictate to 

that company that they give you detailed business information?  Is it possible for you to dictate to a company 

that you are wanting to work with that they give you that information?  I do not understand how that would 

work. 

 

Page 29



 

 
 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We can set out clearly when we start the relationship 

and when we first meet them, “This is how we are going to work with you.  This is the kind of support that we 

can provide you.  In return, we will expect you to tell us once you have expanded in London this kind of 

commercial information, which we will keep confidential, and also that you will tell us that you are happy for 

the fact that we have worked with you to become a matter of public record”.  I am hearing clearly from this 

Committee that what we need to do is to go back and review very carefully how those conversations are 

happening to make sure we are setting out those expectations very clearly when we start the engagement with 

those clients.  That is something we can do. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  The other thing that I have heard - and still a bit that I would like clarity on - is 

that, Andrew, you talked about the Board making decisions.  When the Deputy Mayor [for Business, Rajesh 

Agrawal] is there representing the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor is party to this decision.  Therefore, the Deputy 

Mayor is party to the decision that only so much of your information would be made transparent.  Do I have 

that right? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The Deputy 

Mayor is acting in his role as Chairman of L&P, yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You could then make a next step and say that if the Deputy Mayor acting on 

behalf of the Mayor has made this decision, this is a mayoral decision to go only so far in terms of transparency 

with regard to L&P.  Would that be a step too far? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  It is not 

necessarily the Chairman’s decision on his own.  It is a decision by the Board.  I would not say it is a mayoral 

decision. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  A Chairman coming - as we have heard from a colleague - with 63% of the 

funding, that Chairman is influencing the decisions that are being made by the Board, are they not?  

Otherwise, what is the point of them bringing their 63% to the business or the Board if they are not 

influencing the actions taken by the Board?  You see, I am just left with a feeling that if there was a mayoral 

commitment to transparency, then there would be transparency.  What I cannot understand is what is blocking 

it.  Do you see what I mean?  That is my problem from what I have heard this morning. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The intention 

and the agreement with the Board was to be as transparent as possible with how we are spending public funds.  

Then there were the three criteria that we set in terms of how far we would go in terms of transparency, the 

respect of confidentiality for commercial information, the fact that there should not be an undue cost burden, 

and that there should not be a conflict with our corporate governance. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is right that the Board makes this decision.  I do not have any problem with 

that.  That is not an officer decision.  You are here to translate those decisions to us.  However, I go back to 

you and say, given that the Deputy Mayor [for Business] is the Chairman of the Board, it would seem to me 

that if a decision has been made in terms of transparency, then that has the full support of both the Deputy 

Mayor and the Mayor in terms of your structure because you have this unique structure. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I would suggest that that is perhaps a question best 

put to the Deputy Mayor’s office. 

 

Page 30



 

 
 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes.  You are so right.  Thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  What are you going to do to increase your non-GLA income and what split between GLA 

grant and other income are you aiming for in the longer term? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The aim is to 

have more than 50% non-GLA funding and that is something that we have achieved over the last two years.  

That comes from a variety of sources. 

 

There are other public funds there.  Currently there is £2 million of public funds, the majority coming from 

European Regional Development Fund or trade and growth programmes like the Mayor’s International 

Business Programme and our Business Growth Programme.  There is also funding from the Department for 

Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) for the Discover England Fund, which is supporting us in developing 

a bookable product for tourists in growth markets, particularly China. 

 

We are currently generating about £6.3 million from commercial income through a variety of sources.  We have 

partnership schemes, which currently generate about £1.6 million.  Those are commercial partnerships with 

companies that are supporting our foreign direct investment activity.  Then we are just about to launch 

revamped partnerships for our tourism members.  We see this as a potential growth area in terms of the new 

scheme.  We intend that we will be able to grow income over time from this new scheme, which we are 

launching in April [2019]. 

 

There is match funding.  This is funding that comes from partners for specific activities.  These might be 

companies that we take to trade shows to attract new congresses to the city or sponsorship for particular 

events. 

 

We then have two commercial subsidiaries, which generate income.  There are the Dot London domains for 

London and then L&P Ventures, which is predominantly tasked with generating advertising and ecommerce 

revenue from our digital channels.  Those are the various income streams. 

 

Then we have this value in kind category as well, which is important to count because that income support we 

get from partners really helps us to extend our reach.  That can be activity from partners for particular 

campaigns.  The London-Paris tourism campaign we are doing at the moment is to attract United States (US) 

millennials to come and visit London and Paris.  There are partners who are putting in in-kind support that 

helps extend that reach, Marriott Hotels and United Airlines being examples of that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is one thing the GLA funding 50%, but of course it is taxpayers who are funding all of 

these other things like the European Regional Development Fund and Discover England.  Then you have a 

grant of £400,000 for the International Business Programme from the Mayor.  All of this is still taxpayers’ 

money. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Not all of it.  

As I said, there is £6.3 million of purely commercial income. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Is that purely commercial or does that include the Dot London venture? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  It does include 

Dot London. 

Page 31



 

 
 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It does.  Then that is £4 million, is it not? 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  £4.8 million, is it not? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, it has gone to £4.8 million.  Well spotted, Assembly Member Pidgeon.  Yes, that is 

£4.8 million of that £6.3 million.  Is that right? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  I have 

£3.7 million, but yes. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Nevertheless, it is one hell of a chunk, is it not?  The Dot London thing was given to you, 

was it not? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No, it was not 

given to us. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It was applied for by the GLA and you were allowed to give it out. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We needed the 

approval of city authorities to run this, but it was our application. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  At the end of the day, virtually your whole business is run through taxpayers’ money in one 

way or another, through getting the Dot London venture, etc.  That is right, is it not? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  No, I do not 

agree with that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  What part of that do you not agree with?  All the money from the GLA is taxpayers’ money.  

The money from the [European] Regional Development Fund is taxpayers’ money.  The Mayor’s International 

Business Programme is taxpayers’ money.  I imagine that Discover England is taxpayers’ money. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, it is DCMS. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  What part of what I have just said is not right, then? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Our 

partnership fees of £1.6 million, match funding of an additional £1 million and the funds we get from our 

commercial subsidiaries of £3.7 million. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is from Dot London? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Part of that is. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I have £4 million and so one hell of a sum of that is from that. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  Not on an 

annual basis, no.  That is not correct. 

Page 32



 

 
 

 

Susan Hall AM:  What is your total income per year? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  £26 million 

including the value in kind. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  £26 million and you are looking at that small amount that is not taxpayers’ money.  That is 

why we should get much more transparency. 

 

If we go back more on to the finances, how are you going to look to get more commercial work in? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We are looking 

at new opportunities through our ventures activity.  We have a new strategy in terms of generating increased 

ecommerce activity.  There are plans for us to support domestic tourism, which we will be doing on a 

commercial basis. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How much money are you putting into that? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We are not 

putting any money into it.  It is going to be funded by the industry with some support by the GLA and TfL. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is funded by taxpayers’ money again.  All right.  This is not what L&P was set up to do, 

with respect.  It was set up to eventually stand on its own two feet.  You are nodding, Laura.  You know this.  

We have the same conversation every time we have a meeting.  We have the same conversation that you are 

going to go back and look at things and talk to the Board, but nothing changes.  In the meantime, we are 

looking at millions of pounds of taxpayers’ money. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  We have 

moved from being 30% funded from non-GLA sources to 50% since L&P was founded. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  If I can add, income generation is certainly for me a 

real priority going into 2019/20.  We have relaunched our commercial partner scheme already last year 

[2017/18] with a view to being able to increase the revenue from that.  As Andrew said, we are about to 

relaunch our tourism partner scheme with a view to making that more sustainable, better for our partners and 

more profitable for us, which is a new opportunity.  We are using better technology to improve the revenue 

and the profitability of the ecommerce and the advertising on the Visit London sites, and we are also looking at 

new large-scale strategic partnerships with a small number of potential corporates who would work with us.  

This is an area that we are focused on going into 2019/20 and I would very much like to see us increasing the 

proportion of commercial income in future. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  OK.  I will leave that particular bit at this point.  How much do the foreign offices cost you in 

both rent and staffing? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  The total cost 

for all of our overseas offices is £2.9 million a year. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Fine.  All right.  If we go on to the Brexit defence, how did you come to the decision to set 

aside £1.4 million for Brexit defence? 

Page 33



 

 
 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Are you talking about the grant specifically? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Our Brexit response runs through all of this three-

year strategy.  This three-year strategy covers all of the period since the referendum and so a lot of the work 

that we are doing at the moment is in the context of Brexit.  If I look at the whole three-year strategy, there 

are three elements in particular that are responding to Brexit and helping us to portray a positive image of 

London around the world and also to make sure that we can take advantage of the opportunities that will 

come to us from the high-growth markets in the future.  Our approach is very much to take as positive a view 

as possible. 

 

One of the three things in the three-year strategy is around London’s global reputation, continuing to tell the 

positive stories about London’s enduring strengths, why London continues to be a fantastic place to do 

business, to study and to go on holidays, and we are doing that by building a network of influential business 

advocates through whom we can work and push out these positive messages. 

 

The second aspect is about being closer to our audiences because we think that, for a lot more of the business 

that will come to London, we will need to work harder and they will be asking questions about London.  

Therefore, as we discussed earlier, we need to have teams in market who can reach them earlier.  That is the 

second aspect. 

 

The third, which was new for L&P, was to work with the existing international investor base.  In the past, we 

have always worked at bringing new investors into London, but we have not looked at the existing 

international investor base.  What we are doing is really working with existing investors to make sure that if 

their businesses are growing, that growth stays in London. 

 

Those are the three ways that we are responding over the whole period.  I would say that much of what we are 

doing is in fact responding to Brexit in different ways. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Surely point one is core business: telling everybody how wonderful London is, which it is, 

and trying to persuade people to invest here.  Surely that is your core business. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is core business, but we are having to do it a lot 

more proactively than we used to.  When L&P was set up in 2011 and with the Olympics in 2012, London’s 

global brand and London’s global reputation was flying high.  Quite frankly, an organisation like L&P did not 

need to do much of the proactive storytelling and reputation building because that story was really telling 

itself.  We were really focusing all of our resources on the more one-to-one, working directly with investors, or 

the much more targeted tourism or study campaigns. 

 

We do now know that London’s global reputation is at risk to some extent and you can see that through a lot 

of the different sentiment studies that show that there has been a decline in sentiment towards London from 

international audiences, and that is new.  That had not happened in the previous period.  There is a need to 

respond to that.  That is why we are doing more of this reputation and ground-building work, which there was 

not a need to do in the past. 

 

Page 34



 

 
 

Whilst generally - absolutely - it is core business, we are doing it in a much more proactive way and putting real 

effort into it in a way that we were not previously. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Going back to the question, what have you spent the £1.4 million on?  Extra staff?  Extra 

advertising?  What have you actually done? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  It covers the 

salaries of those staff in markets, the cost of the co-working space where they are based, the recruitment of 

those staff and -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  How many staff do you have involved in that? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  There is 

another 16 additional staff in those extra six offices.  They are pretty small with two or three people in each 

location.  There are marketing costs and travel costs for those individuals and then activity, some marketing 

activity in terms of positive messaging around London. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  All right.  The decision of the Economy Committee to summons documents from you last 

year [2018] was not taken lightly, but we just were not getting anything from you at all.  Today, a few of us 

here are not happy with the transparency.  What more do you think you should be doing?  You did not seem to 

have proper answers for Assembly Member [Jennette] Arnold’s very good points.  If you look at the Mayor, he 

says he wants to be transparent. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  He wants the most transparent administration ever. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes, indeed, transparency all over the place, we are told about.  This L&P could not be less 

transparent unless it is dragged screaming towards it.  What is your comment to that? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  As I said before, we have heard your very legitimate 

concerns and your requests for us to be more transparent.  It is in the light of that that Andrew and I have 

taken the step of reviewing all of our transparency policies, having a public consultation about it and taking a 

set of recommendations to our Board.  That has resulted in the most significant change to our transparency 

arrangements since we were set up. 

 

One of the most significant elements is this independent audit of our results, which means that you will be 

able, I hope, to have confidence that the outcomes that we are claiming for London are valid and have been 

checked by an independent third party who will be able to go through all of that evidence. 

 

We have heard from you today other areas where you would like to see us go further and, as I have said, I am 

very happy for us to take those back to the Board, but I feel that what we have done in the changes we have 

made here is to hear your concerns, take those away and make a very significant set of changes, which I should 

add are not without cost to us.  We are having to employ additional staff to do this as well. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I have received representations from a partner of yours, smallcarBIGCITY, which is under very 

considerable pressure because it will suffer significant losses due to some of the Mayor’s current proposals in 

relation to the private hire industry.  Have you spoken to the Deputy Mayor for Business [Rajesh Agrawal] 

regarding this?  How do you intend to help them? 

 

Page 35



 

 
 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I would like to check the facts of our conversations 

with them and write to you, if I may. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  They are quite happy.  They know I am going to bring this up.  They have written to you.  

What have you done about it? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I would like to go and check what action has been 

taken and write to you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  I am disappointed that you cannot answer that but, anyway, I will look forward to a speedy 

response to that.  Can I ask both of you?  If you were running a normal company - as in not a non-profit 

company - would either of you buy shares in this? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  In L&P if it was 

a commercial organisation?  Is that the question? 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Yes. 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  I genuinely 

think we provide an excellent service and excellent value for money to the taxpayer. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is not an answer to the question.  If this was a proper company, would you buy shares 

in it? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It is not a purely commercial entity and so I am afraid 

that there is not a sensible answer to that question.  If it were -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  It is designed to be going that way.  That is what it was set up for.  I am just saying.  Would 

you have the confidence to buy shares in it? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  It does not deliver a return to the owners of the 

company.  It delivers a return to London taxpayers and to Londoners.  Therefore -- 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is the issue.  We are concerned about the return to the taxpayers.  I will leave it at that, 

Chairman. 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I just wanted to pick up a couple of things.  In December [2018] there was a 

decision signed off here at City Hall that approved £20,000 towards a project that cost £40,000 to fund L&P to 

review potential major sports event hosting opportunities over the next 20 years.  Is that not just your bread-

and-butter work?  Why would you need specific funding to do that? 

 

Andrew Cooke (Managing Director, Operations and Governance, London & Partners):  I am not aware 

of that additional funding. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Are you aware of it, Laura? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  I am not aware of it.  I would like us to go away and 

have a look into it and write to you. 

 

Page 36



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It was a decision signed off here.  It just struck me that that is your core 

business.  It is about getting visitors into London’s tourism.  Surely you would be horizon-scanning and looking 

at what opportunities there are, talking to the London Legacy Development Corporation, which is probably 

already doing that, looking at the staging.  The Lee Valley Regional Park and Wembley are probably already 

doing that.  I could not understand why you would need additional funding to do something that I would have 

thought was your everyday work. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Let us look into it and come back to you, if that is 

OK. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK. 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  Thanks. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Tourism is crucial and we may have very different views on this Committee on it 

but Brexit is having an impact.  I am just looking at the tourism figures.  In January [2019], Office for National 

Statistics showed that we welcomed 750,000 fewer EU visitors to London.  That is a really big slump, but also a 

slump in terms of their spending in London.  What are you specifically doing to reverse these trends? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  We are not addressing the decline in EU tourist 

numbers, which, as you said, is quite significant at the moment.  If you look at the future projections, that is 

also a decline. 

 

Our tourism strategy is more long-term and it is about winning new audiences for London from the markets 

that are going to grow fast and bring the tourists that have the best behaviours in London and that drive 

inclusive growth in London.  We know from the research that those are the tourists: first-time young visitors 

particularly from the US and from China and to some extent from India.  Therefore, we are really focused on 

the long-term sustainability of the London tourism industry and having a tourism industry in London that is 

beneficial for Londoners.  That is why all of our work is really focused on the US, China and India and those 

very specific target markets. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK, but then you have opened up new teams and offices in Paris and Berlin, as 

you mentioned earlier.  Is that not part of their work as well to potentially be selling the benefits of London for 

tourism and trying to help with that clear decline? 

 

Laura Citron (Chief Executive, London & Partners):  They are mostly focused on trade and investment 

and, to some extent, they also work on business tourism and winning major events for London, for which 

Europe is a very important source market. 

 

We have thought a lot about this and discussed it with Visit Britain.  Visit Britain is putting very significant 

investment into particularly Germany, which is the market that is seeing the biggest decline, but other 

European markets as well to address this issue of the fall. 

 

Our view is that we need to focus our interventions where we can have the biggest benefit and in ways that are 

best for Londoners and that what is driving the decline in EU tourist numbers are large macro issues that with 

the budget and resources we have we cannot address.  We are working very closely with Visit Britain on what it 

is doing, but we are better off looking for the long-term growth opportunity markets than trying to address 

this decline, which is very much sentiment-driven. 

Page 37



 

 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  Thank you. 

 

Gareth Bacon AM (Chairman):  OK.  We have reached the end of that session.  Can we thank both of our 

guests for coming and for the answers they have given today? 

Page 38



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 21 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out details of actions arising from previous meetings of the Budget and Performance 

Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee.  

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 March 2019 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London & Partners 

The following commitments were made during the 

course of the meeting, to: 

 Provide the final list of L&P’s KPIs and targets, 

following on from the draft business plan 

shared on 4 March 2019;  

 In future, to add commentary to published KPIs 

and performance against targets; 

 Share the definitions of “leads” and stages of 

engagement used by L&P; 

 Provide the number of conversions following 

from the leads read out at the beginning of the 

meeting and furthermore, to provide the 

percentage of all conversions from all leads by 

sector and by market; 

 Explain the timeline and process behind the 

publication of the 2.5m engagements target; 

 Share a list of those variables within the GVA 

Complete. A letter 

from the Chief 

Executive, London 

& Partners to the 

Chairman is 

attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive, 

London & Partners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

calculation used by L&P that will be refreshed 

and when; 

 Provide the completion form response rate; 

 Provide a detailed implementation timeline for 

those changes to governance procedures that 

were listed during the meeting, to include the 

publication of L&P’s decision making framework 

and the programme to refresh the 

organisation’s website; 

 Explain how the legal status of L&P affects its 

ability to publish the agendas or reports from 

any L&P body, as well as the impact of its status 

on publishing minutes of L&P’s committees or 

similar; 

 Review the current correspondence policy of 

L&P to see if it can be brought into line with 

the principles of the FoI Act, and to report to 

the Committee any changes made to ensure 

that it is, or any reason why it cannot; 

 Include within future annual reports details of 

all trade visits to include cost, list of top-level 

meetings, participants and, in due course, 

impact; 

 Review the policy for initial engagements to 

ensure that the expectation that a company’s 

name will be published as being in receipt of 

assistance from L&P is clearly set out, and to 

report back to the Committee on how any 

changes are to be made; 

 Write on actions taken by L&P to assist 

“smallcarBIGCITY” in particular in relation to 

any relevant changes or proposed changes to 

PHV licencing, ULEZ or congestion charge 

rules; and 

 Set out the justification for additional funding 

received from the GLA for future major sports 

events consultancy, as set out in ADD2301. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output 

from the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Unused. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

Page 40



 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 7 January 2019 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. The 2019-20 GLA Group Budget – TfL 

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

Committee requested the following additional 

information: 

 Confirmation of the expected completion date 

of the Canary Wharf to Rotherhithe Bridge; 

 Funding available for Healthy Streets beyond 

the five years of the current business plan; 

 Where possible, a breakdown of Healthy 

Streets funding by cycling, walking and buses; 

 A methodology summary for Healthy Streets 

funding that’s takes account of matters 

beyond the benefit-cost ratio process; 

 Details of movements in capital renewals 

spend, including reclassification of emissions 

equipment spend, any reallocation and 

practical delivery issues; 

 Explanation of TfL’s definitions of “safe” and 

“good repair” and how this informs TfL’s 

approach to street maintenance; 

 Details of capital programme expenditure 

project by project and how they have been 

classified into the categories of critical, 

central, desirable and deprioritised; 

 In relation to the ‘desirable’ category, further 

details of how these projects are expected to 

be funded; 

 The revenue implications of the Bank Station 

closure currently scheduled for the summer of 

2021; 

 An estimate of the revenue lost as a result of 

the delays to the Northern Line Extension; 

 An estimate of the fare revenue from running 

Boxing Day Services on the Overground; and 

 The amount expected to be raised by the £20 

per annum charge for the photocard that 

enables people to travel for free.  

 

Part complete. 

A briefing on the 

capital expediture 

request was 

provided on 

19 February 2019.  

 

Officers are chasing 

the remaining 

actions. 

Commissioner, 

Transport for 

London and 

Deputy Mayor for 

Transport. 

Page 41



 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 27 September 2018 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Legacy Development Corporation 

Lyn Garner, Chief Executive, LLDC to provide: 

 The projected legal costs incurred by the LLDC 

in relation to legal disputes with West Ham 

Football Club and other legal disputes related to 

the Stadium; 

 The average financial cost incurred by the LLDC 

on West Ham match days at the Stadium, 

including a breakdown of which services are 

included in these costs, and details of the 

comparable financial costs incurred for hosting 

other events at the Stadium such as the World 

Athletics; 

 Details of the number of seats that are moved 

in and out of the Stadium each year in order to 

accommodate different events held at the 

Stadium, including a visualisation of the 

modifications that are made particularly for 

match days; 

 The net deficit incurred by the LLDC as a result 

of LS185’s operations; 

 A breakdown of the costs associated with the 

Chief Restructuring Officer and the income that 

has been generated as a result of this post, 

including anticipated long-term benefits; 

 Clarification on the relationship between the 

LLDC, E20 and LS185 and an explanation as to 

why this relationship is maintained by the LLDC; 

 Details of the potential liability the LLDC might 

incur as a result of obligations falling to the 

East Bank estate management company, 

particularly in the instance that a potential 

tenant pulls out of the agreement; and 

 Details of the number of people who have 

responded to the planning consultations for the 

East Bank development. 

The Chief Executive Officer of LLDC also agreed to 

provide the Committee with regular monitoring 

reports arising from the East Bank Programme. 

Ongoing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

LLDC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 
3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Letter from the Chief Executive, London & Partners to the Chairman, 26 March 2019 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Gareth Bacon AM 
Chairman of the Budget and Performance Committee 
London Assembly 

(sent via email) 26 March 2019 

Dear Assembly Member Bacon, 

I am writing in relation to your letter dated 12 March requesting further information 
following the evidence session on 5 March. I have answered your questions in turn 
below. 

“Provide a final list of L&P's KPI's and targets, following on from the draft 
business plan shared on 4 March 2019 and in future, to add commentary to 
published KPIs and performance against targets” 

A list of London & Partners KPIs and targets can be found in the annex to this letter. 
These KPIs are also included in our 19/20 published business plan, which will be 
published on our website by the end of this week. 

We will commit to adding commentary in our quarterly reports which set out our 
performance against targets. 

“Share definitions of 'leads' and stages of engagement used by L&P” 

London & Partners tracks an FDI project through various stages from initial contact 
through to completion. These stages are defined as follows: 

• An initial contact is logged as a ‘Suspect’. This includes basic information such
as the company being foreign owned and validated as having the potential to set-
up or expand internationally. Volume of companies is important here because this
is our pool of potential future prospects. The committee may like to consider this
stage as representing our wider ‘market’.

• From this it moves onto the ’Prospect’ stage, which could be considered
equivalent to a ‘lead’. This stage involves confirming budget, establishing contact
with the key influencer or decision maker in the company, confirming whether the
project is contestable and sending a confirmation email confirming interest in
London and in using London & Partners’ services.

Appendix 1

Page 45



 

• This then moves the project onto the next stage, which is “Solution”. This 
stage requires that a business plan and project plan is agreed, the company’s 
principal motivations are confirmed and the project is expected to complete in 
approximately 18 months. 
 

• Once these requirements are met, the project moves onto “Delivery” stage 
where the company must be created as a UK subsidiary with at least one 
employee, and the number of jobs expected to be created or safeguarded are 
confirmed. 

 

• This then leads to the final stage of a project which is “Completion”, where 
the company has made a commitment to a physical site e.g. a property lease has 
been signed and the completion form has been submitted by the client to London 
& Partners, confirming the result of London & Partners intervention and the 
number of jobs created or safeguarded.  This is also an opportunity for clients to 
give feedback on the quality of the service provided by London & Partners.  
 

“Provide the number of conversions following from the leads read out at the 
beginning of the meeting and furthermore, to provide the percentage of all 
conversions from all leads by sector and market” 
 
We define ‘conversion’ as the number of companies who move from prospect to 
completion. It is not possible to provide the Committee with conversion data for the 
leads referred to at the beginning of the meeting, because these leads are too recent 
and are still in the conversion process. We would expect this data to be available in 
financial year 20/21.  
 
Within the annex we provide the percentage of conversions from all leads by sector 
and market. As it usually takes 18 months from meeting a company as a lead to that 
company setting up in London, we have provided the leads from financial year 16/17. 
The majority of these will have converted into completed projects in the current 
financial year 18/19. The overall percentage is 23% which is at the level of a typical 
sales conversion rate. 
 
“Explain the timeline and process behind the publication of the 2.5m 

engagements target” 
 
As part of the creation of our three-year Strategy, the decision was taken to switch to 
an engagements target. The Strategy itself was subject to signoff within London & 
Partners by executive committees and the Board, and externally by the GLA. Following 
this process, a target was developed. Creating the target required assumptions based 
on existing data.   
 
The methodology was validated by the GLA economics team and was subject to 
confirmation by the relevant internal board on 23 August alongside the target itself. At 
that point it was agreed as the official London & Partners engagement target for 

Page 46



 

always-on activity for leisure audiences, and always on and campaigns activity for 
education audiences. 
Through error the target was omitted from our Q2 report published in November and 
was therefore published in our Q3 report in March. 
 
“Share a list of those variables within the GVA calculation used by L&P that will 
be refreshed and when”  
 
In the annex we provide a list of variables used within our GVA calculation. These are 
tailored to each business area and were all recently refreshed when we updated our 
methodology in this current financial year 18/19. I have attached our published 
methodology here for information which includes considerably more detail.  
 
“Provide the completion form response rate” 
 
The Committee may find it useful for me to clarify further the way we claim GVA for our 
FDI projects. We only calculate GVA for a project once the client has submitted an FDI 
completion form. Unlike a traditional survey our GVA calculation does not rely on 
sample sizes of survey respondents, as we simply do not claim GVA on a project if the 
client has not submitted a completion form confirming jobs created. Therefore, all the 
companies we claim as “completed” have submitted a completion form. That means 
that within the companies we claim and measure, the response rate is 100%. 
 
“Provide a detailed implementation timeline for those changes to governance 
procedures that were listed during the meeting, to include the publication of L&'s 
decision making framework and the programme to refresh the organisation's 
website” 
 
An implementation timeline for changes to governance procedures that were listed 
during the meeting is included in the attachment to this letter. As requested, it includes 
the publication of L&P's decision-making framework and our plans to refresh the 
organisation's website. 
 
“Explain how the legal status of L&P affects its ability to publish the agendas or 
reports from any L&P body, as well as the impact of its status on publishing 
minutes of L&P's committees or similar”.  
 
The Board is the principal scrutiny mechanism within the corporate governance 
structures employed by London & Partners. It is the means by which the Executive are 
held to account for their delivery, management of risk, and conduct as officers of the 
company. 
 
One requirement for the Board to perform that role effectively is certainty that they are 
receiving prompt access to necessary information.  
Board papers are an important means by which this occurs, because they both frame 
Board discussions and provide necessary information.  

Page 47



 

Many corporate governance best practice guides recognise the issue. For example, 
the Financial Reporting Council specifically references “Poor quality 
papers...Inadequate information or analysis, ... and a lack of openness by 
management, a reluctance to involve non-executive directors, or a tendency to bring 
matters to the board for sign-off rather than debate” as specific risk factors for poor 
decision making (FRC, Guidance on Board Effectiveness July 2018). It is in this context that we 
believe board papers should remain confidential.  
 

If they were to be published, it is inevitable that they would be written with consideration 
of how they may be understood by external audiences, particularly in a politicised 
environment. That may have the effect of reducing the depth of the information they 
contain, therefore materially weakening governance and scrutiny.  
 
As with many questions of effective corporate governance this issue requires balance 
of the two important goals of transparency and effective scrutiny. In this instance, 
ensuring that the Board are able to hold the Executive properly to account requires the 
ability to apply a degree of confidentiality to the information the Board receives. 
 
“Review the current correspondence policy of L&P to see if it can be brought 
into line with the principles of the FoI Act, and to report to the Committee any 
changes made to ensure that it is, or any reason why it cannot” 
 
We can confirm that we will undertake a review of our correspondence policy and 
consider how it can be brought into line with the principles of the FoI act. This will need 
consideration at Board level and we will update the Committee after the next Board 
meeting in May. 
 
“Include within future annual reports details of all trade visits to include cost, 
list of top-level meetings, participants, and in due course, impact” 
 
We will include within future annual reports details of trade visits including cost, high-
level meetings, participants, and in due course the impact of the visit. We will do this 
in a way that is accessible to our audiences.   
 
“Review the policy for initial engagements to ensure that the expectation that a 
company's name will be published as being in receipt of assistance from L&P is 
clearly set out, and to report back to the Committee on how any changes are to 
be made” 
 
We will undertake to review the policy for initial FDI engagements to ensure that the 
expectation that a company's name will be published as being in receipt of assistance 
from L&P is clearly set out. We will report back to the Committee on how any changes 
are to be made when we have agreed these. 
 

Page 48



 

“Write on actions taken by L&P to assist 'smallcarBIGCITY' in particular in 
relation to any relevant changes or proposed changes to PHV licencing, ULEZ 
or congestion charge rules” 
 
London & Partners introduced the CEO of 'smallcarBIGCITY' to officials at the GLA 
who would be best placed to handle queries about any changes to PHV licencing, 
ULEZ or congestion charge rules. The GLA subsequently put him in touch with TfL’s 
stakeholder manager for ULEZ. 
 
“Set out the justification for additional funding received from the GLA for future 
major sports events consultancy, as set out in ADD2301” 
 
The funding set out in ADD2301 was specifically to support activity in the Mayor’s sport 
strategy, ‘Sport for all of Us’. It supports one of the key strands of the strategy, which 
is to undertake a global event stocktake (including details such as event 
characteristics, audiences, broadcast/media reach, economic impact, staging costs) to 
determine if London may be interested in bidding to host. The stocktake requires 
access to detailed industry held data, which is not held by us or by the GLA and which 
we do not have the capacity to undertake analysis for in-house. We have therefore 
sought to procure a consultant with the requisite expertise and access to industry data 
to inform this part of the Strategy. Given the shared interests in developing this piece 
of work, a shared funding model was agreed between the GLA and us. 
I hope the information in this letter and attachment is useful. Please do let me know if 
further information would be helpful to you. I continue to be grateful for your interest in 
the work of London & Partners.  
 
 
Yours Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Laura Citron 
Chief Executive 

Page 49



 

Annex 
 
1. Provide a final list of L&P's KPI's and targets, following on from the draft business 

plan shared on 4 March 2019 
 

London & Partners Mission: Good Growth for London 

What we do What we measure KPI Target 
2019/20 

Engaging target 
audiences 

We measure engagement by 
our target audiences with our 
content. An ‘engagement’ is 
different for each channel, 
e.g., a share on social media, 
watching a video, comments, 
clicks.  

Audience engagements:  
Content about specific London 
products or campaigns and always 
on content. Audience includes 
targeted leisure tourists, students, 
Talent Toolkit users.  
Brand engagements:  
Content about London’s broader 
offer, brand and values including 
broadcast of major events. 

Audience 
engagements:  
20.6 million 
Brand 
engagements:  
48 million 

Improving London’s 
global reputation 

We measure improved 
perceptions of London, by 
comparing our targeted 
audience against a control 
group. We measure 
perceptions of a defined set 
of key messages about 
London.  

Audience engagement 
perceptions:  
Improvement vs control for content 
about specific London products or 
campaigns 
Brand engagement perceptions:  
Improvement vs control for content 
about London’s broader offer, 
brand and values.  

Audience 
engagements 
perceptions 
change:  
+ 8% 
Brand 
engagements 
perceptions 
change:  
+ 4 % 

Convincing audiences 
to choose London and 
supporting 
businesses to grow in 
London 

We measure the additional 
economic benefit of our 
interventions for the London 
economy.  

Direct GVA from business 
growth  
(Foreign Direct Investment, Trade, 
Growth, Business Tourism and 
Major Events) 
Indirect GVA from international 
student engagement.  

Direct GVA: 
£175m 
(of which 80% 
from target 
sectors).  
Indirect GVA: 
£15m 

Working in 
partnership 

We measure the resources 
we attract from the London 
business community, our 
commercial activity and other 
sources.  

Proportion of our activity that is not 
funded by resources from the 
Greater London Authority.  

50% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 

2. Provide the percentage of all conversions from all leads by sector and market 
 
Overall figures, 
2016/17to 2018/19      

      

  
Total 
leads 

Won by 
February 
18/19 

Share won by 
February 
18/19  Active 

Share 
active 

2016/17 1023 231 23% 177 17% 

2017/18 1215 125 10% 479 39% 

2018/19 705 12 2% 623 88% 

2016/17 by sector    

    

    

Sector 
Total 
leads 

Won by 
February 
18/19 

Share won by 
February 
18/19 

Construction (FDI) 17 7 41% 

Public Administration (FDI) 3 1 33% 

Business Services (FDI) 107 33 31% 
Leisure & Entertainment 
(FDI) 23 7 30% 

Food and Drink (FDI) 44 13 30% 

Creative Industries (FDI) 83 20 24% 

ICT (FDI) 407 97 24% 

Retail (FDI) 84 18 21% 

Financial Services (FDI) 108 23 21% 

Energy (FDI) 16 3 19% 

Environmental (FDI) 8 1 13% 

Industrials (FDI) 18 2 11% 

Transport (FDI) 13 1 8% 
Life Science & Healthcare 
(FDI) 71 5 7% 

Accessibility 1 0 0% 

Education 8 0 0% 

Leisure Tourism 2 0 0% 

Not For Profit 1 0 0% 

Primary 1 0 0% 

(blank) 8 0 0% 

Grand Total 1023 231 23% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

2016/17 by market    

    

Market 
Total 
leads Won Share won 

Australia 33 25 76% 

France 18 10 56% 

Israel 23 11 48% 

China 142 37 26% 

Italy 65 12 18% 

India 128 19 15% 

USA 290 39 13% 

New Zealand 5 5 100% 

United Arab Emirates 1 1 100% 

Pakistan 1 1 100% 

Taiwan 4 3 75% 

Hong Kong 4 3 75% 

Greece 3 2 67% 

Japan 18 9 50% 

Slovakia 4 2 50% 

Nigeria 2 1 50% 

Estonia 2 1 50% 

Denmark 2 1 50% 

Portugal 14 6 43% 

Switzerland 7 3 43% 

South Korea 10 4 40% 

Russia 5 2 40% 

Austria 5 2 40% 

Thailand 3 1 33% 

Ireland 3 1 33% 

Finland 4 1 25% 

Germany 13 3 23% 

Canada 42 9 21% 

Mexico 5 1 20% 

Spain 16 3 19% 

Turkey 11 2 18% 

Singapore 6 1 17% 

Bulgaria 6 1 17% 

Brazil 37 6 16% 

Sweden 10 1 10% 

Colombia 10 1 10% 

Netherlands 12 1 8% 

Poland 10 0 0% 

South Africa 6 0 0% 

Argentina 5 0 0% 

Latvia 4 0 0% 

Slovenia 3 0 0% 

Czech Republic 3 0 0% 

Vietnam 2 0 0% 

Romania 2 0 0% 

Norway 2 0 0% 

Luxembourg 2 0 0% 

Lebanon 2 0 0% 

Chile 2 0 0% 

Page 52



 

Belgium 2 0 0% 
Serbia and Montenegro 
(Yugoslavia) 1 0 0% 

Malta 1 0 0% 

Malaysia 1 0 0% 

Lithuania 1 0 0% 

Jordan 1 0 0% 

Hungary 1 0 0% 

Ghana 1 0 0% 

Cyprus 1 0 0% 

Azerbaijan 1 0 0% 

(blank) 5 0 0% 

Grand Total 1023 231 23% 

 
 

3. Share a list of those variables within the GVA calculation used by L&P 
 

Full explanations of the mathematical calculations of the variable below are in our 
Methodology paper, beginning on page 13 
 
FDI 

• Over-optimism. This is a downwards adjustment based on extensive 
evidence that the number of jobs effectively generated in the first three years 
of an FDI operation tends to be lower than the forecasts provided by the 
businesses when arriving in London 
 

• Displacement. This is a downwards adjustment to measure the extent to 
which new inward investors have diverted sales from London based 
businesses. The higher the local client base and the percentage of local 
competitors, the higher the rate of displacement. 

 

• GVA per sector job. Our estimate of GVA depends on the number of jobs 
generated by an FDI business and the sector in which the FDI operates.  The 
Committee will recognise that the economic impact of a job will vary by sector 
and role. 

 

• Persistence. This is a measure of the length of time for which the investor 
firm remains in London, and how long the effects of their investment remain. 
London & Partners take a conservative position and assume persistence of 
three years. The Committee will recognise that many companies remain for 
longer than that, and the true effects of the investment may be far larger. 

 

• Additionality. This is a downwards adjustment to ensure that we only 
measure economic activity from foreign direct investment that London & 
Partners’ promotion and support generates over and above what would 
happen anyway. 
 

 

Page 53



 

• Social Time Preference Rate. This is a downwards adjustment based on the 
assumption that impacts that happen in the future are worth less than those 
happening at present time. Therefore impacts expected in year three are 
downrated compared to the same impact in year one. 

 
MIBP and BGP 
 

• Deadweight. This is a downwards adjustment to measure the extent to which 
the same support would have been obtained without London & Partners’ 
business growth programme. It is assumed that similar support could 
potentially have been accessed by beneficiaries from a different provider. We 
measure the benefit above this level.  It has a similar function to the 
additionality factor used for FDI. 
 

• Displacement. As above.  
 

Business tourism (in addition to eg. event size, duration etc as in the 
Methodology paper) 
 

• Average additional GVA per day per delegate. This is a calculation based 
on the third-party International Passenger Survey business tourist data. It 
includes assumptions about average passenger spend in the previous year 
and two years ago. 
 

• Additionality – as above. 
 

Major events 
 
The methodological approach to estimate the economic contribution of major sporting 
and cultural events is based on a model developed by Sheffield Hallam University’s 
Sport Industry Research Centre (SIRC) and was commissioned by a consortium of UK 
based organisations staging and promoting major public events nationally. The 
Committee may wish to read the explanation of this model on pages 43 and 44 of the 
methodology.  
 

4. Provide a detailed implementation timeline for those changes to governance 
procedures that were listed during the meeting, to include the publication of L&P's 
decision-making framework and the programme to refresh the organisation's 
website   

 

From the beginning of April 2019, we will publish:  

• Terms of Reference for the Board 

• Terms of Reference for Board Sub Committees  

Page 54



 

• Delegation of Authority framework including Board Sub-Committees and 

Subsidiary Boards  

• Approved Board minutes (this will be for the November 2018 Board). Minutes 

for subsequent Board meetings will be published once approved by the Board 

at the subsequent meeting.  

• Register of Board members interests (this isn't new) 

• Procurement Policy following Public Contracts Regulations 2015 including the 

requirement to advertise notification of tenders and contract awards of over 

£25,000 

• Organisation chart for senior members of staff 

  

By the end of July 2019, we expect to have completed the update of the Corporate 

Governance pages on our website, with the additional following information: 

  

• Information on transactions of more than £250  

• Information on FDI and Business Tourism Projects supported 

• Annual Review with more detailed breakdown of spend 

• Correspondence Policy 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



 

Page 57



  

copyright  

London & Partners  

October 2018 

Published by  

London & Partners  

2 More London Riverside 

London SE1 2RR  

www.londonandpartners.com  

Tel 020 7234 5800 

London & Partners is the Mayor of London's official promotional agency. We exist to support the Mayor’s 

priorities by promoting London internationally as a leading world city in which to invest, work, study and 

visit. London & Partners measures its impact on London using methodology developed in close 

collaboration with GLA Economics. London & Partners uses a wide range of information and data 

sourced from third party suppliers within its analysis and reports. London & Partners cannot be held 

responsible for the accuracy or timeliness of this information and data. London & Partners will not be 

liable for any losses suffered or liabilities incurred by a party as a result of that party relying in any way 

on the information contained in this report. 

  

Page 58

https://www.londonandpartners.com/


Foreword 

Ongoing monitoring and evaluation of public policies and programmes is essential for improving policy 

design and delivery and for public accountability. The activities of promotional agencies should be no 

exception - international organisations such as the United Nation Conference on Trade and 

Development (UNCTAD) and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 

have long recognised the importance of properly evaluating the activities of investment promotion 

agencies.  

The importance of evaluation has also been recognised by London & Partners since it was first 

established as the Mayor of London's official promotional agency. Over the years London & Partners 

has invested considerable effort in developing and refining robust evaluation tools and methodologies 

to capture its performance and its impact on London’s economy. 

This report describes the extensive work undertaken by London & Partners (with support from GLA 

Economics) over the past year to review and update performance evaluation approaches across the 

full range of its activities, including business-focussed and consumer-focussed activities. These 

approaches address issues such as additionality, decay, displacement and optimism bias, thereby 

aiming to estimate the incremental contribution of London & Partners’ activities compared to what would 

have happened anyway. It has been an aim to present the methodology in a way which is intuitive to 

understand so that a wider range of stakeholders can hold us to account. 

The report builds on the approaches and methodologies described in the previous GLA Economics 

Working Paper 61 (2014) but expands them in several important ways.   

On the business side, the report sets out improvements to the evaluation approach for Foreign Direct 

Investments (FDI) activities, including the introduction of a clear definition of contestable projects. It also 

sets out the evaluation approaches for a number of new London & Partners’ programmes, including the 

Business Retention programme, the Business Export Programme (as the Mayor’s International 

Business Programme) and the Business Growth Programme (the London Growth Network).   

On the consumer side (covering visitors and students) the report presents an updated and improved 

methodology, which for the first time evaluates impacts across all channels of London & Partners’ 

activities (including social media) as opposed to just their own websites. 

In the context of an updated and improved methodology there remain a number of opportunities for 

further development of the evaluation of London & Partners’ activities. 

The relevant activities are typically still ongoing. The context is one of interim evaluation, which requires 

a number of forward-looking assumptions (e.g. on impacts persistency) and which do not cover some 

important categories of long-term impacts (e.g., the relationship between FDI and productivity).   

Page 59



For pragmatic reasons, across most activities the approach to establish counterfactuals continues to 

rely on carefully constructed beneficiary surveys as opposed to using a more robust comparator/control 

group approach. There is an important exception to this which is one of the most notable features of 

the revised methodology. The proposed approach for the evaluation of leisure tourism activities will use 

data on internet to establish a robust control group of internet users who have not been exposed to 

London & Partners’ campaigns but who otherwise have the same demographic profile of those who 

have.  

Looking for further opportunities to expand the use of quasi-experimental evaluation approaches 

(supported where possible by availability of “new data”) should ideally be part of the future research 

agenda for London & Partners. More broadly, GLA economics remains committed to support London & 

Partners colleagues in their effort to continually improve their evaluation methodology.   

For the time being we believe that this methodology report is a welcome, further step forward to ensure 

that high quality performance and impact evaluation information can inform London & Partners and all 

its key stakeholders (the Mayor of London, the Greater London Assembly, business funders and 

partners) on the effectiveness, efficiency and value for money of London’s promotional activities. 

 

Michele Pittini 

Senior Economist 

GLA Economics 

  

Page 60



Contents  

1. Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Reader Guide ................................................................................................................................. 7 

3. Foreign Direct Investment ............................................................................................................ 9 

3.1. Background ............................................................................................................................. 9 

3.2. Rationale for intervention ........................................................................................................ 9 

3.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 11 

4. Business Retention ..................................................................................................................... 21 

4.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 21 

4.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 21 

4.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 22 

5. Business Export  (Mayor’s International Business Programme) ........................................... 23 

5.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 23 

5.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 24 

5.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 24 

6. Business Growth (London Growth Network) ........................................................................... 30 

6.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 30 

6.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 30 

6.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 31 

7. Business Tourism ....................................................................................................................... 38 

7.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 38 

7.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 38 

7.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 39 

8. Major Sports/Cultural Events ..................................................................................................... 42 

8.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 42 

8.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 42 

8.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 43 

9. Leisure Tourism .......................................................................................................................... 47 

Page 61



9.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 47 

9.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 47 

9.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 48 

10. Higher Education ........................................................................................................................ 54 

10.1. Background ........................................................................................................................... 54 

10.2. Rationale for intervention ...................................................................................................... 54 

10.3. Evaluation methodology ........................................................................................................ 55 

APPENDIX A – Representativeness of sample of FDI businesses ...................................................... 62 

APPENDIX B - Displacement questions for FDI ................................................................................... 63 

APPENDIX C - Sectors and SIC codes for FDI .................................................................................... 64 

APPENDIX D – Sectors and SIC codes for MIBP ................................................................................ 70 

APPENDIX E – GVA assigned to event types ...................................................................................... 71 

APPENDIX F – Logic chain examples and simplified GVA calculations for select business areas ..... 72 

APPENDIX G – Defining marketing engagement ................................................................................. 75 

Page 62



 

1 
 

1. Executive Summary 

London & Partners is the Mayor of London's official promotional agency. The organisation exists to 

support the Mayor’s priorities by promoting London internationally as a leading world city in which to 

invest, work, study and visit. 

This paper outlines the methodology applied by London & Partners to evaluate the economic impact on 

London of the organisation’s activities. The paper aims to do this in a way which is intuitive to understand 

so that a wider range of stakeholders can hold us to account.  

Evaluation methodology is described for the organisation’s business-to-business (B2B) and business-

to-consumer (B2C) activities. The B2B activities undertaken by London & Partners are: 

• Foreign Direct Investment 

• Business Export (The Mayor’s International Business Programme) 

• Business Growth (London Growth Network) 

• Business Retention 

• Business Tourism 

• Sporting/Cultural Events 

 

The B2C activities undertaken by London & Partners are: 

• Leisure Tourism 

• Higher Education 

 

The purpose of evaluation at London & Partners is to understand the organisation’s corporate 

performance and how it contributes to economic growth in London. The focus is on immediately 

measurable outcomes such as businesses, events and tourists that London & Partners has supported 

in choosing to come to London. When last reviewed by Deloitte, this methodology was considered best 

in class1. Based on a review from GLA Economics, the methodology has been improved since the 

previous paper in 2014. The paper now also includes London & Partners’ new areas of activities 

(namely, trade, growth and retention).  

For the purposes of this paper, economic impact is measured by gross-value added (GVA), which, in 

simplistic terms is the sum of the cost of employment and business profits. Evaluation of all business-

to-business activities are based on project completion data, client surveys, leading academic research 

and baseline government statistics and calculations. Ideally, evaluations should be based on revealed 

                                                      
1 Deloitte (2014): Benchmarking the effectiveness of London’s promotional system 

Page 63



 

2 
 

data, such as actual transactions between businesses, instead of surveys. However, given the 

complexity of obtaining such data, survey evaluation is a more feasible and practical solution.  

The focus of the evaluation is primarily on corporate performance rather than assessing long term 

benefits of policy decisions. London & Partners also only measures the additional impacts on London 

which occur because of the organisation’s efforts and does not claim the total impacts on London. 

London & Partners realises long-term impacts, such as increases in total factor productivity, e.g. 

clustering and networking effects, are present but are not currently measured. These benefits would be 

more suited to a detailed academic study. The evaluation methodology can therefore be considered a 

conservative assessment of economic impact. It must be noted, that while modelling longer-term 

impacts is not currently undertaken, as further research becomes available this may be an area of 

evaluation developed in the future. The Social Time Preference Rate is used to discount any effect that 

happens more than one year into the future, for example the value of FDI jobs that are expected to stay 

for three years. The Social Time Preference Rate captures the preference for value now rather than 

later, and that future consumption will have a lower utility due to an expected increase in per capita 

wealth2. 

Displacement elsewhere in the UK economy is also a possibility since London & Partners focuses on 

Greater London. However, London & Partners actively tries to avoid competing with other locations in 

the UK, which for example means that a project is not defined as contestable if the client organisation 

does not consider other international locations, even if it considers other UK locations (see chapter 

3.3.1).  

Comparable to the previous evaluation methodology paper published by London & Partners in 2014, 

multipliers, which estimate the indirect and induced effects (the result of additional demand throughout 

supply chains in the host economy) are not calculated. This is due to the considerable uncertainty and 

difficulty in estimating regional multipliers, and London & Partners’ ambition to take a conservative 

approach. Depending on the availability of reliable multiplier estimates which become available and all 

intended use, multipliers could be applied to final additional GVA estimates. In any instance a suitable 

range will be given. 

All final annual additional GVA estimates will be subject to sensitivity analysis, which models different 

scenarios from a change in key input variables. It allows a ‘what if’ review and assists in longer term 

risk mitigation and dealing with uncertainty.  

The methodology was described as ‘best in class’ by Deloitte in 2014 (ibid. p. 1) and has been 

developed in line with the guidance from the HM Treasury Green Book, Magenta Book3 and the BIS 

                                                      
2 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book 

 

Page 64

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_Green_Book.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_Green_Book.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book


 

3 
 

Impact Evaluation Framework4. It is now being evolved to consider new activity such as trade and 

retention of jobs. While this evaluation approach adheres to best practice and government guidelines it 

must be noted that the process of economic estimation is not a perfect science. This means that 

inherently all final GVA estimates are, in fact, best estimates rather than actual values. As part of 

ongoing process, London & Partners will continue to commit its evaluation practice to internal and 

external peer review to ensure constant improvement to best measure the economic value of business 

activities. 

The following sections provides a summary of the evaluation methodology for each business-to-

business activity. Subsequent chapters describe the background, the rationale for intervention and the 

evaluation methodology in detail for each of the activities. 

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)  

London & Partners attracts foreign direct investment (FDI) and helps foreign-owned businesses to 

expand in London. The methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of FDI created by 

London & Partners’ interventions. The FDI methodology was presented at the Department for 

International Trade’s Analytical Forum on Investment Promotion in 2018 and received positive 

feedback. This approach broadly represents the approach used for all B2B activities. 

The economic impact measurement is based on new jobs created and expected, that is, the number of 

people the businesses expect to employ during their first three years in London. This is converted to 

GVA by using average GVA per job, which is sourced from the ONS and calculated by GLA Economics.  

The resulting GVA estimate is then discounted to reflect investors’ over-optimism and to account for 

displacement of jobs in other London businesses. Finally, the additional economic impact is assessed 

by applying an average percentage factor. This factor is based on previous investors’ statements of 

London & Partner’s influence on their decision to invest in London. 

The main changes to the methodology compared with the previous methodology paper released in July 

2014 are: 

- The definition of a contestable project, known as ‘contestability’ 

- Counting the number of jobs as an average between year one and over-optimism adjusted year 

three 

- splitting additionality between contestable and non-contestable projects, respectively, and 

- a new calculation method for GVA by the ONS, called balanced GVA also known as GVA(B), 

whereas previously the income approach GVA was used.  

 

                                                      
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/monitoring-and-evaluation 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/monitoring-and-evaluation


 

4 
 

Business Retention 

London & Partners is engaging with businesses that are at risk of relocating jobs from London. London 

& Partners helps them with resources, information and connections, helping them to navigate Brexit 

and access the opportunities for growth in London in the future. 

The methodology aims to capture the number of retained jobs supported. This is measured by asking 

businesses engaged with if they have retained jobs and if London & Partners was a helpful resource in 

that decision. 

As this is a new activity, this is the first time London & Partners has measured the impact in this area. 

Business Export (The Mayor’s International Business Programme) 

The Mayor’s International Business Programme aims to maximise London’s economic competitiveness 

and prosperity through increased export by small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs). The economic 

impact measurement is based on actual and expected increases in export turnover as a result of 

participation in the Mayor’s International Business Programme, which is run by London & Partners. This 

is converted to GVA by using GVA to turnover ratios derived from the Annual Business Survey5. 

The resulting GVA estimate is then discounted to reflect; investors’ over-optimism, persistence of new 

exports and additionality of the services offered by London & Partners. 

As this is a new programme, this is the first time London & Partners has measured the economic impact 

of this area. 

Business Growth (London Growth Network) 

The London Growth Network programme helps businesses in London to overcome barriers to growth 

by providing a tailored growth plan, events & workshops, access to experts and opportunities to 

collaborate with large corporates.  

The methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of the programme on London. 

Economic impact is measured in terms of GVA. The GVA is calculated based on the change in actual 

and expected revenue. As this is a new programme, this is the first time London & Partners has 

measured the economic impact of this area. 

  

                                                      
5 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/methodologies/annualb
usinesssurveyabs 

Page 66

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/methodologies/annualbusinesssurveyabs
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/methodologies/annualbusinesssurveyabs


 

5 
 

Business Tourism 

London & Partners is home to the city’s official convention bureau and promotes the capital as a leading 

destination for conferences and corporate events. London & Partners offers a total event solution 

service for clients and event organisers, including free and impartial advice on planning meetings, 

conferences, events, exhibitions, incentives and launch parties in London.  

The methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of London & Partners’ influence on 

business tourism events choosing to locate in London. The measurement of additional economic 

impact is based on event type, actual or expected size, duration and contestability. These are then 

inserted into an economic model that combines the data with historic spend data from business events.  

There have been no major changes in the methodology to estimate Business Tourism in terms of GVA 

when compared with the previous London & Partners’ methodology.  

Sporting/Cultural Events 

London & Partners acts as a central point of leadership and expertise to promote the capital as the 

world’s most exciting destination for major sports and cultural events. The organisation leads on 

strategic planning, bid development, marketing, brand activation, and destination marketing of London 

as a major event city.  

The methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of London & Partners’ influence on 

major sporting and cultural events choosing to locate in London. The economic impact measurement 

is based on event type and actual or expected size which are used in an economic model that combines 

the data with historic spend data from sporting/cultural events. 

There have been no major changes in the methodology to estimate Sporting and Cultural events in 

terms of GVA when compared with the previous London & Partners’ methodology6 

Leisure Tourism 

London & Partners attracts international leisure tourists to London by promoting the city as the 

leading destination in the world. Marketing activity is targeted at young, first time visitors to make trips 

to London they would not otherwise have made. Marketing channels include visitlondon.com, social 

media channels, third party websites, and partner and influencer channels. 

The evaluation methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of the online marketing 

activities on London. Economic impact is measured in terms of GVA. The leisure tourism model is an 

                                                      
6 However previously both the business and sporting and cultural events were combined under ‘Business tourism 

and major events’, whereas this paper deals with these business audiences separately. 

Page 67



 

6 
 

experimental approach where a group of people exposed to London & Partners online marketing 

activity is surveyed and compared to a demographically similar control group.  

The group of people exposed to London & Partners marketing is on average expected to have 

travelled or being planning to travel more to London than the people in the control group. The 

difference between the two groups is assumed to be a result of London & Partners marketing, and 

this difference is assumed to apply to the total population of people exposed. Finally, the economic 

impact from the people influenced to visit London is estimated by applying survey data on e.g. 

average length of stay and average tourism spend data from Visit Britain. 

Higher Education 

London & Partners attracts international students to London by promoting the city as the leading study 

destination. Marketing channels include studylondon.ac.uk, social media channels, third party 

websites and social media channels, including partners and influencers.  

The evaluation methodology aims to capture the additional economic impact of international students 

attracted to London by London & Partners. Additional economic impact is estimated by surveying 

users who engage with London & Partners marketing activity to understand the proportion that have 

secured a place in a London university and the influence London & Partners marketing had on the 

choice to study in London. This information is combined with average spend figures for international 

students, which was estimated in London & Partners (2018), The Economic Impact of London’s 

International Students. 

  

Page 68



 

7 
 

2. Reader Guide 

To understand how to best use this document, a short reader guide is provided here. 

The following chapters are structured in the following way: 

• Background 

This section explains what London & Partners is doing in this area. 

 

• Rationale for intervention 

This section explains why London & Partners is intervening in this area. 

 

• Evaluation methodology 

This is the main part of each section and explains how London & Partners measures its 

impact in this business area. This section will contain any definitions, description of the data 

collection approach and an outline of specific measures and modelling used to calculate 

additional GVA. 

Each chapter includes a logic model that follows the generic example in Figure 1. The logic model is 

inspired by the ERDF Summative Assessment Guidance7 and the GCS Evaluation Framework8. 

Figure 1. Generic logic model 

 

 

  

                                                      
7https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705888/ESIF-
GN-1-033_ERDF_Summative_Assessment_Guidance_v1.pdf 
8 https://gcs.civilservice.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/6.1395_CO_LL_GCS-user-guide.pdf 

Page 69



 

8 
 

Definitions 

Additionality: This is the estimated impact in percent that is attributable to the activities of London & 

Partners over and above what would have happened anyway. Mathematically it is defined as 1 minus 

the percentage of deadweight, where deadweight is the impact that would have happened in the 

absence of activity by London & Partners. London & Partners aims to deliver additional impacts. 

Additional GVA: This the total economic impact of the activities of London & Partners after all 

adjustments have been made, measured in Gross Value Added. 

 

 

  

Page 70



 

9 
 

3. Foreign Direct Investment 

 

3.1. Background 

London & Partners attracts foreign direct investment (FDI) and helps foreign-owned businesses expand 

in London. In the five financial years from 2013/14 to 2017/18, London & Partners has helped 1,420 

companies to invest in London. In both the UK and overseas offices, the team focuses on generating 

project leads through a range of activities. This includes identifying potential investors through business 

and financial media networks, industry networking and events, referrals from the Department of 

International Trade and other commercial partners. 

Alongside this the team is constantly working to build London’s reputation as a place for business with 

prospective investors. Business Development Managers at London & Partners work with firms in target 

sectors, which are selected based on the Mayor of London’s strategic priorities and economic 

development strategy. Services are bespoke depending on each client’s needs with the aim of helping 

clients understand how London can play a role in their global operations. Some of the services provided 

include introductions to potential clients, understanding and navigating business culture differences and 

professional support. 

London & Partners also plays an essential role in introducing investors to local companies who provide 

professional services in tax, legal, employment, immigration or commercial property advice. Businesses 

who have already decided to locate in London, without the influence of London & Partners’ activities, 

are offered a service that focuses on bringing them to London sooner and encouraging them to invest 

on a larger scale.  

In addition to services offered to new inward investors, London & Partners also provides similar services 

to foreign-owned businesses planning to expand their existing London operations where London is in 

competition for expansion with another site.  

3.2. Rationale for intervention 

London & Partners’ intervention is justified based on the following market failures and is shown in the 

logic model diagram showing the progression from activities to outputs and impact.  

Information failure 

Firms expanding overseas require information on market opportunities, that is; access to customers, 

the business environment, and the availability of talent. Arguably, information asymmetries and the lack 

of complete information are often barriers preventing new inward investments, particularly for 

companies at the early stage. Private companies do not have an interest in promoting London as they 

Page 71



 

10 
 

cannot fully internalise the benefits; the market tends to under-provide the range of information needed 

for a firm to invest or expand.  

Positive externalities 

High-quality FDIs benefit local economies via knowledge spill-overs to local firms. The acquisition of 

knowledge tends to increase local productivity and improve local economic outputs. Increased 

competition may lower prices and increase product variation to the benefit of consumers. It is in the 

public interest to ensure that investments from high quality foreign businesses are sustained and 

promoted.  

The logic model diagram in Figure 2 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

Figure 2. Logic model for FDI 

 

 

 

Page 72



 

11 
 

3.3. Evaluation methodology 

The recommendations from the HM Treasury Green Book9, Magenta Book10 and the BIS Impact 

Evaluation Framework1112 have been used as a foundation to measure additional GVA from FDI 

promotional activity. The FDI methodology was presented at the Department for International Trade’s 

Analytical Forum on Investment Promotion in 2018, which saw participation by national investment 

promotion agencies from around the world and by multilateral organisations such as the World Bank 

and the OECD and received positive feedback as a fit for purpose approach. 

London & Partners measures economic impacts in terms of short-term additional economic activity by 

way of Gross Value added (GVA), job creation, and inward capital expenditure. The GVA impact of FDI 

is based on estimated impacts to date and forecast effects on job creation reported in a survey among 

beneficiary businesses. This is used in combination with applying findings from leading academic 

research and calculations derived from government baseline statistics. GVA is, in simplistic terms, the 

sum of the cost of employment and business profits. Long-term impacts in terms of increases in total 

factor productivity, for example, clustering and networking effects are not counted. Evaluation of these 

impacts would be more suited to a detailed academic study. The evaluation methodology can therefore 

be considered a conservative assessment of economic impact.  

A GLA review of the previous methodology suggested discussion of the treatment of contestable jobs. 

The main changes to the methodology compared with the previous methodology paper released in July 

2014 are: 

- The definition of a contestable project, known as ‘contestability’ 

- Splitting additionality between contestable and non-contestable projects, respectively, and 

- Counting the number of jobs as an average between year one and over-optimism adjusted year 

three 

- A new calculation method for GVA by the ONS, called balanced GVA also known as GVA(B), 

whereas previously the income approach GVA was used.  

 

                                                      
9 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf  
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book  
11https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681741/17.3
253_Innovate_UK_Evaluation_Framework_RatherNiceDesign_V2_FINAL_WEB.pdf  
12 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32112/11-
979-survey-questions-for-impact-evaluations-beneficiaries-self-assessment.pdf 
 

Page 73

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_Green_Book.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_Green_Book.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-magenta-book
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681741/17.3253_Innovate_UK_Evaluation_Framework_RatherNiceDesign_V2_FINAL_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/681741/17.3253_Innovate_UK_Evaluation_Framework_RatherNiceDesign_V2_FINAL_WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32112/11-979-survey-questions-for-impact-evaluations-beneficiaries-self-assessment.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32112/11-979-survey-questions-for-impact-evaluations-beneficiaries-self-assessment.pdf


 

12 
 

3.3.1. Contestability 

The organisation measures GVA for “contestable projects” and “non-contestable projects” differently. 

Projects are contestable if the foreign owned company:  

1) is not considering investing anywhere before London & Partners engages with it; OR  

2) is considering London against other international locations for a new operation or for an 

expansion13; OR 

3) is considering London but faces significant and identifiable barriers to investment and has 

not already secured office space or hired permanent employees. Table 1 shows examples of 

barriers and how London & Partners addresses them. 

Table 1. FDI barriers and how London & Partners addresses them 

Barrier How it is addressed 

Regulatory questions Introducing clients to London & Partners’ 

extensive network in government and industry 

to directly address regulatory questions 

Inability to find the right ecosystem to set up in Applying local knowledge and London & 

Partners’ extensive network to present 

relevant ecosystems in London’s diverse 

economy to the client 

Inability to find office space at an appropriate cost 

level 

Providing bespoke and expert advice and data 

to inform 

The reason for categorising projects as contestable and non-contestable is that the efforts should be 

focussed on potential investments where London & Partners can play a more important role in 

influencing the investor’s decision. However, the organisation still plays a role in influencing the timing 

and scale of non-contestable projects, for example, bringing forward investment plans. For this reason, 

and based on empirical evidence, London & Partners only measures additional GVA from non-

contestable projects when clients confirm in the completion form that the sales team had an influence 

on the timing and scale of the investment.  

 

                                                      
13 Since London & Partners actively tries to avoid competing with other locations in the UK, a project is not 
contestable if the company is only considering other UK locations. 

Page 74



 

13 
 

3.3.2. Data collection 

All FDI clients complete a form after they have set up their business in London. This form collects the 

information required to assess the economic impact from London & Partners activity, for example, the 

expected number of employees. Data collected in the form is detailed further in the next section. Each 

form is sent out to the company upon completion of the investment project. A project is deemed 

‘complete’ at slightly differing times depending on each business’s needs. However, a project 

completion at a minimum requires; the registration of a UK subsidiary, a budget in place, and the 

employment of at least one person within Greater London. The response rate is effectively 100 percent 

as London & Partners only considers a company’s project as ‘complete’ upon the collection of the final 

data required. 

Further to the data collected within the completion form, additional information is collected via an annual 

survey of businesses who have been in London for three years. This is used to confirm the size of the 

company and collect information on their competitive environment to estimate the displacement of local 

economic activity. The most recent three surveys include data collected from 45 companies who began 

operating in London in 2012/13, 40 companies in 2013/14 and 42 companies in 2014/15, a total of 127 

companies.  

To overcome response bias, survey questions are designed by a team of experts and carried out by a 

third party. There are limitations to using survey data collected from the beneficiaries only, that being, 

there is no reference group. However, to overcome this limitation and any selection bias, the sample 

data is representative across the different sectors of all the companies serviced in the corresponding 

years. See Appendix A for further details of the representativeness of the sample. To overcome 

sampling bias, a sample is taken, with the most recent survey being 16 percent of the total client base 

in the corresponding year. In future years, the objective is to continue to increase the number of clients 

in this sample as a proportion to the entire client base. To overcome skewed data caused by outliers, a 

combination of both excluding extreme outliers and using a moving average across previous years of 

data is implemented. This is detailed further below. 

3.3.3. Calculation of additional GVA for contestable FDI projects 

London & Partners estimates additional GVA to measure the economic impact on London resulting from 

its activities. The following factors drive the impact from London & Partners’ FDI promotional activity:  

• The scale of the investment, in terms of number of jobs expected  

• The persistence of the jobs created, which are likely to generate a stream of future economic 

benefits 

Page 75



 

14 
 

• An over-optimism adjustment, based on extensive evidence that the number of jobs effectively 

generated in the first three years of an FDI operation tends to be lower than the forecasts 

provided by the businesses when arriving in London 

• The estimated scale of displacement of existing London jobs by the inward investor;  

• The estimated additionality of London & Partners’ activities in terms of their influence on the 

number, scale and timing of the investment or growth project; and 

• The sector of the economy in which the investment is made. 

Figure 3 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

Figure 3. Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation 

 

 

Table 2 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

  

Page 76



 

15 
 

Table 2. Summary of steps within the FDI economic impact model 

Steps Detail Source/calculation 

A Number of jobs in year 1 Completion survey 

B Number of jobs in year 3 Completion survey 

C Average over-optimism Surveys with companies arrived 3 years ago 

D Average number of jobs per year  (A + B*C)/2 

E Average displacement Surveys with companies arrived 3 years ago 

F Persistence Assumption based on literature review 

G Total job-years D*E*F 

H GVA(b)14 per job per year by sector GLA calculations based on ONS data 

I Total GVA G*H 

J Social Time Preference Rate HM Treasury Green Book 

K Additionality 
Completion surveys from companies arrived 

in the previous two years 

L Additional, time discounted GVA I * (1-J) * K 

Each of the above factors are described in the next sections.  

Number of jobs 

The scale of investment is defined as the average number of jobs created in London by the investing 

company during the first three years after arrival. This is measured upon completion of the project by 

asking how many people the company expects to employ in one and three years after completion, 

respectively. A new job is likely to generate a stream of future economic benefits; hence the likely 

persistence must be considered. 

Over-optimism 

The value of an investment is based on the expected size of the business during its first three years of 

operation. This information is sourced from the surveys completed by companies upon arrival. To 

account for any over-optimism in the businesses’ forecasts, their estimates are multiplied by a factor of 

Zi = Y/X, where Z is the over-optimism factor, i is the year the factor is calculated, Y is the average 

number of jobs at companies when they are re-contacted, and X is the average number of jobs at the 

same companies when they arrived. The factor is generated by interviewing businesses supported by 

London & Partners three years after they started operating in London and comparing their current 

                                                      
14 GVA(b) refers to “balanced GVA”, which is the technical term for the method the ONS use to calculate GVA. 

Page 77



 

16 
 

employment size with their forecast when they arrived. The calculation of over-optimism is outlined in 

table 3.  

Table 3. Steps to calculate over-optimism 

Step Detail Source/calculation 

X Number of jobs estimated when company landed in 

London 

Survey 

Y Actual number of jobs in company three years after 

arrival 

Survey 

Zi Over-optimism in year i B/A 

T Rolling average of over-optimism (Zi+ Zi-1+ Zi-2+ Zi-3+ Zi-4)/5 

The factor used in 2018/19 is 0.78, and it is based on interviews with three groups of companies; those 

that answered the over-optimism question and started operating in London in 2012/13 (28), 2013/14 

(34), and 2014/15 (42), in total 104 companies. Hence, for every five jobs expected by the investors, 

one job is discounted in the model.  

The aim is to apply a 5-year moving average to ensure a larger sample size while allowing recent trends 

in the business environment that might affect companies’ level of optimism to be considered. 

Displacement 

Displacement measures the extent to which new inward investors have diverted sales from London-

based businesses. Displacement is measured in line with the RDA Impact Evaluation Framework 

recommendations by gathering survey evidence on the location of competitors and customers. The 

higher the local client base and the percentage of local competitors, the higher the rate of displacement. 

The displacement survey questions are outlined in appendix B. 

The displacement factor M is calculated as M = 100-L*K, where L is the percentage of sales in London 

and K is the percentage of competitors in London, both calculated as the average across all companies 

surveyed. Table 4 shows the calculation of displacement: 

  

Page 78



 

17 
 

Table 4. Steps to calculate displacement 

Step Detail Source 

K Percentage of sales to customers in London Survey 

L Percentage of competitors in London Survey 

Mi Displacement in year i 100-A*B 

N Rolling average of displacement (Mi+ Mi-1+Mi-2+ Mi-3+ Mi-4)/5 

The factor applied in 2018/19 is 79 percent, so for every five jobs created by the investors, one job is 

lost somewhere else in the economy as a result of increased competition. In the same way as for over-

optimism, this factor is based on interviews with three groups of companies; those that answered the 

displacement question and started operating in London in 2012/13, 2013/14, and 2014/15, with a total 

of 111 companies15. 

The aim for displacement is to also apply a 5-year moving average to ensure a larger sample size while 

allowing recent trends in the business environment that might affect displacement. 

Persistence effect 

FDI businesses produce a stream of future economic benefits from on-going activity. The persistence 

of these benefits attached to new inward investments depends on the length of time for which the 

investor firm remains in London. Recommendations from Regeneris Consulting following a review of 

the business support evaluation literature16 suggest a range of 3 – 5 years. Future benefits are in 

nominal terms, meaning that time value of money is not accounted for. London & Partners take a 

conservative position and assume persistence of three years.  

GVA per sector job 

The estimate of GVA depends on the number of jobs generated by an FDI business and the sector in 

which the FDI operates. GVA is, in simplistic terms, the sum of the cost of employment and business 

profits, and this tends to vary widely across sectors. There is not a perfect match between the sectors 

identified by London & Partners to define their FDI strategy, and the Standard Industrial Classification 

(SIC) codes used by the Office for National Statistics (ONS), with regard to published data. Several 

options were explored when deciding how to match the SIC codes with London & Partners’ defined 

sectors. 

                                                      
15 In total 111 companies answered two questions, one about the number of customers in London and the other 
about the number of competitors in London. The survey response rate for each question was respectively; 2012-
13: (47, 37), 2013-14: (27, 20) and 2014-15: (37, 35). 
16 See http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090609050004/http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50735.pdf  

Page 79

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090609050004/http:/www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50735.pdf


 

18 
 

Appendix C summarises how the SIC codes match into sectors as defined by London & Partners.  

For calculation of the GVA per sector job, London & Partners uses an approach developed by Regeneris 

Consulting. This approach is to divide the Gross Value Added at basic prices (Regional Gross Value 

Added (balanced GVA method), ONS) by the total employment – average during the year (Annual 

Business Survey, ONS). Both figures are calculated at a London level. 

Social Time Preference Rate 

Impacts that happen in the future are worth less than those happening at present time. Future impacts 

are therefore discounted with the Social Time Preference Rate (STPR), as described by the HM 

Treasury Green Book17. London & Partners take this into account by multiplying the total GVA with an 

average discount factor across the three years of impact. Calculation of the discount factor is described 

in table 5. 

Table 5. Calculation of the average STPR discount factor 

Time horizon Discount rate 

Within 1 year 1 

Between 1 and 2 years 1/1.035 

Between 2 and 3 years 1/1.035^2 

Average STPR discount factor 0.967 

 

Additionality 

Additionality refers to the net economic activity from foreign direct investment that London & Partners’ 

promotion and support generates over and above what would happen anyway. To measure the extent 

to which firms would have moved to London in the absence of London & Partners’ support and whether 

the organisation had any influence in speeding up the investment or increasing its size, the survey 

asked the following questions, with weighting of responses in the right-hand column in table 6. 

  

                                                      
17 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 

Page 80



 

19 
 

Table 6. Additionality question 

Question: What would you have done without the support from London & Partners? 

Answer Weight 

Definitely NOT invested in London 100 % 

Probably NOT invested in London 50 % 

Probably invested in London anyway 20 % 

Definitely invested in London anyway 0 % 

Based on the business responses from financial years 2016/17 and 2017/18, and the weighting of 

responses, additionality was estimated at 28 per cent for contestable projects (199), and 16 percent for 

non-contestable projects (443). Hence, even if FDI projects are defined as contestable and they are 

helped to London by London & Partners, 72 percent of the decision to set up a business in the city is 

driven by other factors. Using the additionality factor, London & Partners only counts impact attributable 

to the organisation. 

3.3.4. Calculation of additional GVA for non-contestable FDI projects 

Before 2018/19, companies in both contestable and non-contestable projects were asked the above 

question in table 5. However, the question does not directly address any influence London & Partners 

had on the timing and scale of the investment, which is the only impact that is counted for non-

contestable projects. To improve estimation accuracy on additionality for non-contestable projects, 

these companies will instead be asked the question in table 7. 

Table 7. New additionality question for non-contestable projects 

Question: Would you have invested earlier or at a greater scale without the support from London & 

Partners? 

Answer Weight 

Definitely NOT Weight = 100 % 

Probably NOT Weight = 50 % 

Probably  Weight = 20 % 

Definitely Weight = 0 % 

Until enough completion survey data is collected from new projects to apply an accurate additionality 

factor for non-contestable projects, the average of 20 percent for contestable and non-contestable will 

be used.  

Page 81



 

20 
 

The description of calculation of additional GVA in Figure 3 and Table 5 applies to contestable projects. 

For non-contestable projects, London & Partners only attributes GVA to its efforts if it has influenced 

the company to arrive in London earlier, or to invest in London at a larger scale in terms of number of 

jobs (see figure 4). For example, for a company that arrives in London ½ year earlier, GVA will be 

calculated as: GVA = Contestable GVA/6. The reason contestable GVA is divided by 6 is that the 

calculation of contestable GVA assumes persistence of three years. Bringing the company to London 

½ year earlier, has thus added 1/6 of the GVA that would have been claimed if it was a contestable 

project. The Social Time Preference Rate is not applied to GVA from jobs created earlier, since a 

maximum of one year’s acceleration is assumed. 

Figure 4. Impacts claimed for non-contestable projects 

 

 

If the company has invested at a larger scale, i.e. if the company has created more jobs, GVA is counted 

according to how many more jobs it has created, assuming the jobs will stay three years. The value of 

these jobs is calculated using the steps outlined in chapter 3.3.3.  

Page 82



 

21 
 

4. Business Retention 

4.1. Background 

Historically, London & Partners has focused on attracting foreign owned businesses to set up and 

expand in London, creating jobs, and facilitating export and global growth. 

The business environment has changed with the United Kingdom’s vote to leave the European Union, 

and some businesses have expressed the view that they may relocate jobs from London. London & 

Partners is engaging directly with these companies, helping them with resources, information and 

connections, helping them to navigate Brexit and access the opportunities for growth in London in the 

future. 

4.2. Rationale for intervention 

London & Partners’ intervention is justified based on market failures including lack of information and 

positive externalities. The logic model diagram in Figure 4 shows the progression from activities to 

outputs and impacts below. 

Information failure 

Companies located in London require information on market opportunities, regulatory change, access 

to customers and the availability of talent after the United Kingdom has left the European Union. At the 

time of writing, no final agreement between the United Kingdom and European Union has been reached, 

so there is a lack of complete information. As negotiations develop, companies need to be aware of 

how any new rules might affect them. The future relationship between the two political regions also 

continues to receive a substantial amount of coverage in the media, and it is therefore important to help 

companies make fact-based decisions. Private service companies may have some interest in providing 

these services, but since they cannot fully internalise the benefits; the market is likely to under-provide 

the range of information needed for a firm to decide on retaining jobs in London. 

Positive externalities 

The presence of international businesses in London may benefit local economies via knowledge spill-

overs to local firms. The acquisition of knowledge tends to increase local productivity and improve local 

economic outputs. Increased competition may lower prices and increase product variation to the benefit 

of consumers.  

The logic model diagram in Figure 5 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

 

Page 83



 

22 
 

Figure 5. Logic model for Business Retention 

 

 

4.3. Evaluation methodology 

The success of London & Partners will be measured against the additional impact that happens 

because of the organisation’s activities. The measure of success for this activity is the number of jobs 

retained in London by companies because of the support provided by London & Partners. Companies 

will be asked to complete a survey when they have decided on whether to retain jobs in London. Table 

8 shows the survey questions used to measure the number of retained jobs. 

Table 8. Retained jobs questions 

A Were you considering moving jobs away from London before engaging with London & Partners? 

B Have you now moved fewer jobs than you initially thought you would? 

C Were London & Partners a valuable resource in that process? 

London & Partners will count any retained jobs in B if a business answers yes to question A and C. 

As the political negotiations may last for a long time, London & Partners will also count the number of 

companies engaged. A company will be considered to have been engaged if London & Partners has: 

• Met with representatives from the company in a scheduled meeting; or 

• Referred the company to a partner organisation or expert; or 

• Provided a significant amount of relevant information directly to the company via email. The 

communication needs to be two-way. 

Page 84



 

23 
 

5. Business Export  

(Mayor’s International Business Programme) 
5.1. Background 

The Mayor’s International Business Programme aims to maximise London’s economic competitiveness 

and prosperity through increased export by small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs).  

The programme started in February 2016 and builds on the success of the predecessor initiative, The 

Mayor’s Export Programme.  

Support is provided through both one-to-one and one-to-many activities, with the programme engaging 

with beneficiary businesses over a minimum of one year.  Support is provided both in London and 

overseas and includes: 

• Diagnostic – this ensures that businesses are both eligible for the programme and are in a 

position to begin exporting; 

• Business clinics and mentoring – these provide support to businesses in relation to, for 

example, tendering for international supply chain contracts, joining consortia opportunities and 

entering into partnerships or joint ventures; 

• Trade missions – these are designed to be consistent with the needs of SMEs, the target 

sectors and identified overseas market opportunities. Participating SMEs are also provided with 

pre-mission briefings to prepare for the missions; and 

• Overseas mentors – beneficiaries are connected to mentors in target markets. These mentors 

provide ongoing guidance and first-hand knowledge of overseas markets and issues in their 

particular geography.   

SMEs are able to choose the support accessed from the range of activities provided.  

MIBP is part-funded by the European Regional Development Fund programme (ERDF). Usually 

businesses are eligible if they at a minimum have; 10 employees, £1 million in revenue or funding, or 

20 percent year on year growth. However, depending on the sector, these minimum requirements could 

be flexible, for example, if a life sciences company has raised £5 million but only has 4 employees, then 

they may be eligible. Another example may be the urban sector where two or more successful projects 

are already in place and this then qualifies the business.  

 

 

Page 85



 

24 
 

5.2. Rationale for intervention 

The MIBP seeks to address the market failure of asymmetric information. London businesses do not 

have perfect knowledge of the overseas market for their products or of how to access these markets, 

particularly companies at the early stage. Conversely, potential overseas customers may have little 

knowledge of the products and services offered by London’s small and medium-sized enterprises. 

These information issues result in less than optimal trade between London’s businesses and 

international buyers.  

In addition, international trade raises London’s reputation as a business centre, which is a positive 

externality. This benefit is not fully internalised by individual businesses, and they will thus under-invest 

in international trade engagements. 

The logic chain diagram in Figure 6 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

Figure 6. Logic model for The Mayor’s International Business Programme 

 

 

 

5.3. Evaluation methodology 

Beneficiary impacts are assessed through a completion survey which is sent to the beneficiaries when 

they graduate from the programme. A turnover-based approach to assessing economic impact in terms 

of Gross Value Added (GVA) has been adopted rather than a jobs-based approach. This is because 

businesses may increase their exports without increasing job numbers or without a proportionate 

Page 86



 

25 
 

increase in jobs numbers. For example, businesses may have been operating below 100% capacity 

prior to increasing exports and have therefore been able to increase production without increasing job 

numbers. Alternatively, businesses may have invested in new equipment to increase productivity rather 

than increasing workforce numbers.  

The methodology for the MIBP has been developed in collaboration between London & Partners and 

AMION Consulting. 

5.3.1. Data collection 

The GVA impact of the MIBP is based on data from individual graduated beneficiary businesses. A 

telephone survey of 53 beneficiary businesses was conducted by Amion Consulting between 30th April 

and 25th June 2018. The respondents represent a 59% response rate based on the total number of 90 

graduated beneficiaries at the time of data collection. Data from this survey is used to estimate average 

displacement and additionality. 

Table 9 summarises the profile by sector of the survey respondents compared with the overall 

beneficiaries. This shows that the technology sector has the greatest representation among survey 

respondents, while the other sectors are less represented, which corresponds to the sector distribution 

of all beneficiaries. Sector compositions are outlined in appendix D.  

Table 9. Sectors of survey respondents and beneficiaries 

Sector % of survey respondents % of overall beneficiaries 

Technology 74% 61% 

Life sciences 19% 22% 

Urban 7% 17% 

 

  

Page 87



 

26 
 

5.3.2. Calculation of additional GVA for Business Export 

Beneficiary turnover increases are self-reported and therefore adjusted to account for the risk of over-

optimism, uncertainty inherent to forecasting and to include only the additional impact, which are due 

to the activities undertaken by London & Partners. Additionality is for this programme accounted for by 

asking only to turnover increase that happened as a result of the programme (step A in table 9) and 

accounting for deadweight in terms of availability of the same support elsewhere (step J in table 9). 

Figure 7 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

Figure 7. Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation 

 

 

Table 10 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

  

Page 88



 

27 
 

Table 10. Summary of steps within the business export economic impact model 

Step Detail Source/calculation 

A Turnover increase as a result of the 

programme 

Completion survey 

B Over-optimism: capping future forecast impact 

at 100% of current turnover 

Recommendation from Amion Consulting 

based on analysis of outliers 

C Persistence RDA Impact Evaluation Framework18 - 3 

years 

D Decay - Export fallout Persistence in Exporting: Cumulative and 

Punctuated Learning Effects’, ERC19 

E Displacement Survey with beneficiaries from the first two 

years of the programme 

F Adjusted turnover increase A capped/scaled by B, C, D and E 

G GVA to turnover ratio Annual business survey 

H Gross GVA  = F * G 

I Social Time Preference Rate HM Treasury Green Book 

J Deadweight – support available elsewhere Survey with beneficiaries from the first two 

years of the programme 

K Net additional GVA = H * (1-I) * (1-J) 

The next sections describe the steps in the GVA calculation.  

Turnover increases 

Data on turnover impacts is collected by asking businesses after they have graduated from the 

programme about the value of realised and expected increases in export sales resulting from the MIBP. 

If they cannot provide a specific impact value, they are asked to provide an estimate of the percentage 

of their total turnover that has resulted from the support. The beneficiaries are also asked about the 

timing and persistence of impacts over future years. 

                                                      
18 http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090609050004/http:/www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50735.pdf  
19 Love, J. & Manez, J, 2016, ‘Persistence in exporting: cumulative and punctuated learning effects’, Enterprise 
Research Centre, https://www.enterpriseresearch.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/ERC-ResPap50-
LoveManez.pdf  

Page 89

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090609050004/http:/www.berr.gov.uk/files/file50735.pdf
https://www.enterpriseresearch.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/ERC-ResPap50-LoveManez.pdf
https://www.enterpriseresearch.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/ERC-ResPap50-LoveManez.pdf


 

28 
 

Optimism bias  

Some businesses estimated very high future turnover increases. For example, two businesses 

estimated increases of 500 percent. Amion Consulting recommends limiting the maximum future 

increase to 100 percent of turnover to account for over-optimism among survey respondents.  

Persistence 

Given the uncertainty over the future of international trade and the general concern about survey 

respondents being potentially overly optimistic, persistence of a maximum of three years for each 

company’s turnover impacts has been assumed, unless the beneficiary indicated a shorter duration. 

Decay - Export fallout 

Exports resulting from the support are reduced to the levels set in Table 1120 over the duration over 

which export sales accrue. This accounts for, for example, increased competition in subsequent years. 

Table 11. Decay in export sales over time 

Year 1 2 3 

Export sales (% of first year sales) 100% 87% 82% 

 

GVA to turnover ratio 

Turnover impacts are converted to GVA using ratios derived from the annual business survey. Table 

12 sets out the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) codes used in the analysis, along with the 

regional data for London in relation to turnover and GVA for 2016. 

Table 12. GVA to turnover ratio, percent 

Sector Percentage of 

respondents 

GVA to turnover ratio Weighted ratio 

Life sciences 19% 56% 11% 

Technology 74% 52% 38% 

Urban 7% 48% 3% 

Weighted average    52% 

The weighted average GVA to turnover ratio of 52% is used, due to the limited sample size for some 

sectors.  

Social Time Preference Rate 

Impacts that happen in the future are worth less than those happening at present time. Future impacts 

are therefore discounted with the Social Time Preference Rate (STPR), as described by the HM 

                                                      
20 Persistence in Exporting: Cumulative and Punctuated Learning Effects’, ERC, 2016 

Page 90



 

29 
 

Treasury Green Book21. London & Partners take this into account by discounting future turnover 

increases according to the years the increases are expected. 

Deadweight 

To assess the extent to which the companies would have got the same support without the intervention 

by London & Partners, the question in table 13 was answered by the 53 survey respondents. The 

average across the respondents was 35%.  

Table 13. Additionality question 

Question: If you hadn’t received any support from the programme, do you think you would have 

been able to receive similar support from elsewhere? 

Answer Weight 

No, not at all 0% 

Yes, but to a lower standard 20% 

Yes, but with a delay 50% 

Yes, to the same standard and within the same timeframe 100% 

Displacement 

Displacement measures the extent to which export increases resulting from the support provided are 

at the expense of other exporters from London. It has been assessed by asking the questions shown 

in tables 14 and 15. 

Table 14. Displacement Question 1 

What percentage of your goods and services are sold to export markets? 

Percentage 

Don’t know 

Won’t say 

 

Table 15. Displacement Question 2 

What percentage of your export market is served by competitors from Greater London? 

Percentage 

Don’t know 

Won’t say 

The level of displacement across all survey respondents was assessed to be 9%.  

                                                      
21 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 

Page 91



 

30 
 

6. Business Growth (London Growth Network) 

6.1. Background 

London & Partners’ business growth programme offers business advice and support to businesses 

based in London with fewer than 250 employees and turnover of less than £40m looking to grow across 

London including the outer boroughs.  

The programme helps companies to overcome barriers to growth and increased productivity. This is 

done by providing ongoing guidance and support in the form of a tailored growth plan, a dedicated 

account manager, events & workshops, access to experts via a mentoring programme and opportunities 

to collaborate with large corporates.  

LGN is part-funded by the European Regional Development Fund programme (ERDF).  

6.2. Rationale for intervention 

The business growth programme seeks to address the information and coordination market failures. 

London businesses do not have perfect knowledge of how to unlock their growth potential and of 

potential business partners, particularly companies at the early stage.. Also, benefit of organizing e.g. 

networking events where they can meet business partners is not fully internalised. Hence, they will 

under-invest in engagement with other businesses and experts.  

The logic chain diagram in Figure 8 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

Page 92



 

31 
 

6.3. Evaluation methodology 

London & Partners and the Greater London Authority (GLA) commissioned Hatch Regeneris Consulting 

to evaluate the programme, as it is a requirement by ERDF to use an external evaluator. This 

methodology is similar to that used to evaluate the Mayor’s International Business Programme.  

Differences between this program and the Mayor’s International Business Programme need to be taken 

into consideration. For example, any revenue impact of the London Growth Network may take longer 

to materialise if, for example, a business has focussed on developing new products, rather than finding 

clients for existing products.  

The evaluation of this program will include measurement of outputs as required by the ERDF, e.g. the 

number of companies supported with at least 12 hours, new jobs and new products. 

The methodology set out below draws on guidance from the HM Treasury Green Book, Magenta Book 

and MHCLG’s ERDF Summative Assessment Guidance22. 

6.3.1. Data Collection 

All BGP beneficiaries provide basic contact information as part of the process of engaging with the 

project.  This is used by evaluators to contact beneficiaries between 6-12 months after completion of 

                                                      
22 Ministry of Housing Communities & Local Government & European Union European Structural & 
Investment Funds, 2017, England European Regional Development Fund Programme 2014 to 2020: 
Project Summative Assessment Guidance, 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/70
5888/ESIF-GN-1-033_ERDF_Summative_Assessment_Guidance_v1.pdf  

Figure 8. Logic model for The Mayor’s International Business Programme 

 

 

Page 93

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705888/ESIF-GN-1-033_ERDF_Summative_Assessment_Guidance_v1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705888/ESIF-GN-1-033_ERDF_Summative_Assessment_Guidance_v1.pdf


 

32 
 

their support, asking them to complete a survey to capture their perspectives on the project and 

information to allow an analysis of the impacts of support provided.   

London & Partners will aim for sample representativeness across sectors. At the time of writing in 2018, 

no surveys have been conducted, given the relatively early stage of the programme. The first graduated 

companies will be surveyed in the spring 2019, and the results from this will feed into the calculation of 

additional GVA. 

6.3.2. Calculation of additional GVA for Business Growth 

Additional GVA is based on beneficiary turnover increase as reported by the individual businesses. 

Additionality of London & Partners is taken into account for this area by: 

1) Asking what share of any impact that has happened, was as a result of the programme (step B), and 

2) Asking if they could have got the same support elsewhere (step F) 

Figure 9 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

Figure 9: Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation 

 

 

Table 16 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

Page 94



 

33 
 

 

Turnover increase 

Surveyed beneficiaries are asked to state: 

1) The number of people employed by their business and the total annual turnover at the end 

of their last full financial year 

2) Their current number of employees and their expected annual turnover at the end of this 

financial year (based on current performance) 

3) The number of additional people they expect to employ over the next 12 months and their 

expected annual turnover at the end of the next financial year  

The difference between (1) and (2) represents gross jobs and turnover generated to date since the 

beginning of the programme.  The difference between (2) and (3) represents gross jobs and turnover 

expected to be created in the next year. 

Percent of turnover increase as a result of the support received  

The extent to which any impact happened as a result of the programme is estimated through the 

question in table 17. The second column in the table indicates how each response is treated in the 

modelling.  This question is used to assess additionality for jobs change, turnover change and future 

jobs / turnover change. While this is included as part of the turnover question for evaluation of the 

Business Export programme, it is asked separately Business Growth to make it easier for respondents 

on a programme where impacts may be less easily identifiable. 

 

 

 

Table 16. Summary of steps within the business growth economic impact model 
  

Step Detail Source / Calculation 

A Turnover increase achieved to date and 
anticipated in next year (survey) 

Survey 

B Percent of turnover increase as a result of the 
support received 

% from survey 

C Optimism Bias – none assumed on turnover 
increase to date; 20% optimism bias assumed 
on future estimates 

Optimism bias assumption based on 
rounded estimate from L&P FDI 
optimism bias findings 

D GVA to turnover ratio Annual business survey 

E Gross additional GVA generation to date and 
in next year 

= A * B * (1-C) * D 

F Deadweight – support available elsewhere % from survey 

G Displacement % from survey 

H Net Additional GVA generated to date and 
expected in next year 

= E * F * (1-G) 

I Persistence of future impacts 3 years. HCA Additionality Guide, 2014 
and assumed decay of impacts over 
three years 

J 
Social Time Preference Rate HM Treasury Green Book 

K Net Additional GVA = H * I * (1-J) 

Page 95



 

34 
 

 

 

Adjusting for Over-Optimism 

No optimism bias is assumed for assessing change in employment and turnover to date, as it is 

assumed businesses would provide this information on an objective basis. 

In assessing future impacts, there is greater uncertainty and significant risk of beneficiaries being over-

optimistic.  However, there are no standard approaches to quantifying optimism bias in this 

circumstance.  Analysis by CLG in 200723 for example, highlights that in estimating outputs from projects 

there was a relatively even spread between projects where outputs were over and under estimated. 

Internal data from London & Partners has analysed optimism bias in estimating future impacts from FDI 

projects.  The data shows that approximately 78% of expected impacts are realised.  Although the type 

of investment is quite different, this optimism bias can be used as a proxy for assessing optimism bias 

of future expected growth by businesses in the BGP programme. 

                                                      
23 Optimism Bias in the Appraisal of Regeneration Projects 

Table 17. Impacts of support question 

Question: What proportion of this change was purely as a result of working with the Business Growth 

Programme? 

Response Weight 

0%- none of it is due to the Business Growth 

Programme 

No net impacts 

Less than 25% 12.5% of gross impacts considered additional 

26%-50% 37.5% of gross impacts considered additional 

51%-75% 62.5% of gross impacts considered additional 

76%-99% 87.5% of gross impacts considered additional 

100% - all of it was due to the Business Growth 

Programme 

100% of gross impacts considered additional 

Don’t know Additionality based on average level across all 

respondents to question 

Page 96



 

35 
 

Optimism bias has therefore been assumed for future expected impacts, with an assumption that 80% 

of estimated impacts would be realised.  In the evaluation report this assumption will be tested to 

consider the effect on project impacts and value for money if the optimism bias is higher or lower. 

Converting turnover to GVA 

Gross GVA generated is assessed based on applying a turnover-to-GVA ratio to the gross turnover 

generated for each surveyed business.  The ratio used will be relevant to the sector in which the 

beneficiary operates and is drawn from Annual Business Survey data for each relevant sector, based 

on national sector averages.  

Deadweight 

Deadweight measures the extent to which the same support would have been obtained without London 

& Partners’ business growth programme. It is assumed that similar support could potentially have been 

accessed by beneficiaries from a different provider. Accounting for deadweight, in combination with the 

question in table 17, ensures that we only count the additional impact of the programme. This is tested 

through the beneficiary survey by asking the survey question in table 18.  The second column indicates 

how each response is treated in the modelling. 

  

Page 97



 

36 
 

Table 18. Deadweight question 

Question: What do you think would have happened had you not received support from the Business 

Growth programme? 

Response Option Modelling Response 

We would have obtained the same support in the same timeframe with a 

different provider 

100% deadweight 

We would have obtained the support with a different provider, but at a later 

time 

80% deadweight 

We would have obtained the support with a different provider but they would 

have been of a lower quality 

50% deadweight 

We would not have obtained the support with a different provider 0% deadweight 

Adjusting for displacement 

Displacement activity relates to where the growth of one firm may have inhibited growth in another firm 

in London, hence reducing the overall net benefits of the project for London as a whole. 

For the purposes of this assessment, the displacement of jobs and GVA impacts are assessed using 

the survey question in table 19.  In the modelling, gross additional impacts are then reduced accordingly 

based on displaced impact e.g. if 100% of the firm’s turnover would be taken up by other London 

competitors then it is assumed all of the gross impacts generated were just displaced from other firms 

in the London economy, and none would be considered net additional. 

Where there is a range, the modelling will use the middle point of that range.  

Table 19. Displacement question for BGP 

Question: If your firm ceased operations, what proportion of your turnover would be taken up by your 

competitors in London? 

Response Option Modelling Response 

None No displacement of gross impacts 

Less than 25% 12.5% displacement of gross impacts 

26% to 50% 37.5% displacement of gross impacts 

51-75% 62.5% displacement of gross impacts 

76%-99% 87.5% displacement of gross impacts 

100% 100% displacement of gross impacts 

Don’t know Displacement based on average level across all respondents to 

question 

Page 98



 

37 
 

Calculating Persistence Effects 

As described above, the survey assesses the potential for improved business performance which 

occurs as a result of the BGP support, to lead to additional employment and GVA generation over the 

next year.  

It is assumed that these impacts will persist beyond this for a further two years (so three years’ 

persistence in total), before decaying as other factors start to exert a much larger influence on business 

performance. 

The estimate of three years’ persistence is based on guidance in the HCA Additionality Guide, 2014.24 

Social Time Preference Rate 

Impacts that happen in the future are worth less than those happening at present time. Future impacts 

are therefore discounted with the Social Time Preference Rate (STPR), as described by the HM 

Treasury Green Book25. Future impacts are expected to stay for three years, as described in the section 

above, and these impacts are therefore multiplied by the average discount factor described in table 5. 

  

                                                      
24 Housing & Communities Agency, 2014, Additionality Guide, 4th ed., 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378177/additio
nality_guide_2014_full.pdf  
25 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 

Page 99

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378177/additionality_guide_2014_full.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/378177/additionality_guide_2014_full.pdf


 

38 
 

7. Business Tourism 

7.1. Background 

London & Partners is home to the city’s official convention bureau and promotes the capital as a leading 

destination for conferences and corporate events. Activity here looks to improve the offer to major 

corporations and associations, to build on the comparative advantages of London and to improve 

London’s standing as a destination for conferences.   

London is one of the most competitive cities for business events globally, ranking fifth in the 2017 

International Congress and Convention Association (ICCA) annual rankings. International competition 

for attracting business events is high and ever growing from both established destinations who are 

improving their product, and from new emerging destinations. London & Partners promotes the capital 

with a major focus on new and contestable international events that are at risk of being lost to other 

city destinations. Attracting business events is not only important for the immediate economic benefits, 

but for growing a city’s reputation, for underpinning sectoral growth, and for helping to animate a 

destination. Hence the Business Tourism team at London & Partners undertakes many activities to 

remain at the forefront of global event destinations, and to maintain an active pipeline of future events; 

targeting both those that could not be won without the intervention and those with the highest forecast 

return on investment.  

London & Partners offers a total event solution service for clients and event organisers, including free 

and impartial advice on planning meetings, conferences, events, exhibitions, incentives and launch 

parties in London. Services include: 

• Advice about venues, housing, professional conference organisers (PCOs) and destination 

management companies (DMCs)  

• Site inspection facilitation  

• Production and support for bids from leading civil and corporate figures in London and the UK 

to secure large internationally mobile conventions  

• Promotional tools to help increase delegate attendance, including DVDs and presentations  

• Visitor information for delegates  

• Customised accompanying partner programmes in London  

• Oyster cards (pay-as-you-go travelcards) for groups of more than 50.   

 

7.2. Rationale for intervention 

Activity in this area looks to correct information failures whereby conference or event organisers may 

not realise the full benefits of hosting events in London. In addition, there are information asymmetries: 

event organisers might have the concern that information provided by accommodation and venue 

Page 100



 

39 
 

providers is not independent. An impartial advisor can address this concern and remove barriers to 

booking events in London.   

 

There are also positive externalities for London and its brand reputation, for example, through 

attendees being more inclined to return to London as leisure tourists, or through potential positive 

impacts on trade and inward investment brokered at conferences or events in London. In addition to 

this, hosting events in London can generate considerable additional spending in London by organisers 

and attendees. London businesses may also obtain new knowledge when experts in their field visit the 

city. Although the level of these spill-over benefits can be difficult to evidence, these could lead to 

considerable additional economic activity in London.  

 

The logic model in figure 10 illustrates how correction of the market failures within business tourism can 

lead to positive impacts on London. 

Figure 10. Logic model for Business Tourism 

 

 

7.3. Evaluation methodology 

The methodology to evaluate economic impact from business tourism conferences and events was 

developed in 2014 by London & Partners and economists from the Greater London Authority, in 

collaboration with Regeneris Consulting. London & Partners only report direct additional economic 

impact in terms of GVA that is generated and retained in London’s economy. Hence, in line with our 

previous evaluation methodology, economic multipliers are not used.  

Page 101



 

40 
 

7.3.1. Calculation of additional GVA for Business Tourism 

London & Partners supports different types of business events to come to London. London & Partners’ 

event classification is aligned with the standard classification adopted by other national tourism boards 

since 200626. According to this taxonomy, events are classified as Corporate or Association; 

International or Domestic; and Single Day or Multi-day events.  

An economic impact model developed by Regeneris Consulting was used to calculate average GVA 

per delegate per night for each of the event types, and for contestable and non-contestable events. 

The model was based on data from more than 40 events. Average gross spend and additionality drives 

the economic impact and varies depending on the type of event with international multi-day events 

generating higher value than domestic single day events. To convert spend into GVA, Input-Output 

tables for the UK regions were used27 for the sectors of food and drinks, travel, accommodation and 

entertainment including attractions etc. Additionality varies from 18 to 43 percent, depending on event 

type and contestability. Some events, typically larger ones, are confirmed years before they take place. 

Events happening more than one year after the financial year in which the event is confirmed are 

therefore discounted with the Social Time Preference Rate as described in HM Treasury Green Book. 

Figure 11 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

Figure 11: Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation for business tourism 

 

 

                                                      
26 “Estimating the Local Expenditure Benefits of Conferences to a Local Area”, an advisory note from the UK 

Tourist Boards. Used towards the delegates expenditure survey carried out in 2006.  
27 This was developed by Regeneris Consulting using the UK level national accounting data, along with data on 

the London economy. 

Page 102



 

41 
 

Table 20 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

Table 20. Summary of steps within the business tourism economic impact model 

Step Detail Source/calculation 

A Event type Client feedback 

B Contestability Client feedback 

C Average additional GVA per day per delegate 
Economic impact model 

based on A and B 

D Event duration Client feedback 

E Event size Client feedback 

F Social Time Preference Rate HM Treasury Green Book 

G Additional GVA C*D*E*(1-F) 

The average additional GVA numbers from the economic impact model are adjusted every year based 

on IPS business tourist data. Calculation of the adjustment factor is shown in table 21. 

Table 21. Calculation of adjustment factor for average business tourism GVA 

Step Detail Source/calculation 

A 
Average business tourism spend per night in previous 

year 
IPS 

B 
Average business tourism spend per night two years 

ago 
IPS 

C Adjustment factor  A/B 

Although the average additional GVA numbers are updated with the adjustment factor in table 21, 

event hosts are also asked by London & Partners to its influence on choosing London for the event 

(additionality). The question is similar to the question in Table 5 and will be used to make yearly 

adjustment of the numbers. Further, to ensure the average additional GVA numbers are updated, 

London & Partners aim to initiate a primary research study with a sufficiently large sample of events. 

 

  

Page 103



 

42 
 

8. Major Sports/Cultural Events 

8.1. Background 

London & Partners’ Major Events Team acts as a central point of leadership and expertise to develop 

and promote the capital as the world’s most exciting destination for major sports and cultural 

events.  The team leads on strategic planning, bid development, marketing, brand activation, and 

destination marketing using major events as a vehicle to tell London’s story overseas and enhance our 

international reputation.  

The team’s job is to put a spotlight on London, working with the industry leaders in entertainment, 

culture and sport to realise world-class events in London. The team works in partnership with the Mayor 

of London's office, national governing bodies, international sports federations, cultural institutions, 

rights owners and city stakeholders to win bids and attract new events that resonate globally and that 

have got a choice to host the event elsewhere. The team helps deliver these major mass-spectator 

sport and cultural events utilising cross-city expertise and leverage on owned online channels to access 

new audiences in core markets via user generated content and third-party endorsement.  

The team’s objective is to attract events which deliver good growth for London, draw global media 

exposure for London and generate local community engagement. This continues to strengthen 

London’s international reputation as a world-leading and award-winning host city for major events which 

in turn allows engagement with national and international audiences. 

 

8.2. Rationale for intervention 

The rationale for activity in this area looks to correct information failures and information asymmetry. 

Information failure happens when conference or event organisers may not realise the full benefits of 

hosting events in London. Information asymmetries happen when event organisers might have the 

concern that information provided by accommodation and venue providers is not independent. An 

impartial advisor can address this concern and remove barriers to booking events in London.  

 

There are also positive externalities for London and its brand by hosting events, for example through 

spectators or global viewers being more inclined to visit, study, work and invest in London. Private 

businesses have little or no incentive to promote London’s brand and to invest in destination marketing. 

This is because they cannot capture the full benefits. Without public sector intervention, the market 

would therefore lead to an under-investment in promoting London’s brand. 

 

Hosting events in London can also generate considerable additional spending in London by organisers 

and attendees. London citizens may be inspired to take up new sports or cultural activities, which may 

Page 104



 

43 
 

have the potential to increase the health and well-being of Londoners, and the events may provide 

volunteering and learning opportunities. Although the level of these externality benefits can be difficult 

to evidence, they could potentially be of considerable economic value to London.  

 

The logic model in figure 12 illustrates how correction of the market failures within major sports and 

cultural events can lead to positive impacts on London. 

Figure 12. Logic model for Major Sports/Cultural events 

 

 

8.3. Evaluation methodology 

The methodological approach to estimate the economic contribution of major sporting and cultural 

events is based on eventIMPACTS28. EventIMPACTS was developed by Sheffield Hallam University’s 

Sport Industry Research Centre (SIRC) and was commissioned by a consortium of UK based 

organisations staging and promoting major public events nationally. However, for consistency in 

measurement of other business lines, London & Partners and GLA Economics agreed on applying 

discounting factors to estimate additional GVA deriving from the events. 

Ideally every event should be evaluated on its own. However, this would not provide a cost-efficient 

approach to measuring GVA. The evaluation of individual events is therefore based on average figures 

from past events that were evaluated economically. Table 22 shows the event taxonomy and the 

studies used to inform the economic value of each event type. 

                                                      
28 Details of the eventIMPACTS methodology available at http://www.eventimpacts.com/economic  

Page 105



 

44 
 

London & Partners is currently reviewing reputational impacts of hosting events. This is currently not 

quantifiable within this paper.  

Table 22. Event classification and sources for calculation of economic impact 

Group Type Source 

A Sporting Single-Day high profile international event 

Two NFL International Series 

Games, 29 September and 27 

October 2013, Wembley 

Stadium  

B Sporting Multi-Day high profile international event 
ATP World Tour Finals, 5-12 

November 2012, The O2 Arena 

C 

Sporting event, mainly local low profile  

 

2014 Final Diving World Series 

at the London aquatics centre. 

D Free cultural event Lumiere London 2016 

E Creative/art event London Design festival 

For more details on GVA assigned to sporting events see Appendix E. With the growth of new types 

of events, such as e-sports, which has both physical and virtual spectators, new classifications will be 

developed.  

8.3.1. Calculation of additional GVA for Major Events 

The contribution of London & Partners supported events is measured through the estimated direct 

economic impact on London in accordance with the eventIMPACTS methodology. As illustrated in 

figure 13, there are two sources of an event’s direct economic impact: visitors and organisers spend29.  

The visitor component can be disaggregated further into spectators; audience and accredited 

personnel (i.e. delegates, media etc.).  

  

                                                      
29 “An Economic Assessment of London & Partners support for major events”, Sport Industry Research Centre, 

Sheffield Hallam University, (2013).  

Page 106



 

45 
 

Figure 13. Flow diagram outlining the components of economic impact from major events 

 

Direct economic impact is estimated by accounting for spending in London by both (non-London) 

domestic and overseas visitors who visit the capital for the purpose of attending the specific event, this 

excludes spend from random visitors. 

The figures are concerned with the amount of new money injected into London from external sources 

as a direct result of hosting major events. The figures provide a baseline to estimate the net benefits 

of major events to London in terms of Gross Value Added (GVA) terms, and to estimate the additionality 

of London & Partners’ contribution, deriving an overall cost-benefit ratio of London & Partners 

promotional activity linked to major events.  

London & Partners applies an additionality factor of 33 per cent to convert gross to net economic spend. 

The additionality of London & Partners’ contribution has been set at 33 per cent based on the three 

main players contributing in winning major events bids; namely, the Sport Governing Body (UK Sport 

Federation), the hosting venue and the City (London & Partners, the Mayor’s official promotional 

organisation for London). This is a simplifying assumption as additionality for our activity in this 

business area cannot be estimated via primary research. Additionality is set at 100 per cent in case of 

London & Partners owned events, for example, Ride London. 

Additionality for this business area had been largely discussed during a round table with national 

counterparts, and two consultancies have been involved in brainstorming on the subject. There has 

not been any systematic analysis in the major events’ evaluation literature setting out the additionality 

from an organisation such as London & Partners when promoting and supporting major events.  

Additional spend is finally converted into additional GVA by using the same GVA conversion ratio used 

for leisure tourism (40 per cent, based on data from the Annual Business Survey, ONS) given similarity 

of the expenditure pattern.  

Events are counted in the financial year they are confirmed, rather than when they take place. The 

estimated economic impact is therefore discounted by the Social Time Preference Rate of 3.5 % on a 

Page 107



 

46 
 

case by case basis30. Repeat events, such as NFL games, that are initially strongly influenced to come 

to London by London & Partners, are discounted by 25 percent when they return in subsequent years. 

If we have reason to believe our impact on repeat events is smaller, the discount will be larger. 

Methodology for evaluation of reputational impact is being developed, and the overall evaluation 

methodology framework for major sporting and cultural events is to be reviewed. The review may 

include updating the calculation input with estimations from more recent events. 

  

                                                      
30 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 

Page 108



 

47 
 

9. Leisure Tourism 

9.1. Background 

London & Partners attracts international leisure tourists to London by promoting the city as the 

leading destination in the world. Marketing activity is targeted at young, first time visitors to make trips 

to London they would not otherwise have made. Marketing channels include visitlondon.com, social 

media channels, third party websites, and partner and influencer channels. 

9.2. Rationale for intervention 

Hotels, attractions and other tourism focused organisations have little or no incentive to promote 

London’s brand and/or to invest in a destination marketing strategy. This is because visitors’ 

expenditure is spread across a range of organisations, meaning that the organisations may not 

internalise the full benefits of destination marketing. 

This coordination failure results in an under-investment of the market in promoting London’s brand. At 

the same time, information failures mean that our audiences are not fully aware of the benefits of 

London’s leisure tourism, which might prevent a portion of them from considering London as a 

destination. 

Evaluation activity conducted at London & Partners aims to understand the portion of visitors 

effectively influenced by London & Partners marketing activity. 

The logic chain diagram in Figure 14 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

Figure 14. Logic model for Leisure Tourism 

 

 

Page 109



 

48 
 

 

9.3. Evaluation methodology 

This methodology to calculate the impact of London & Partners marketing activities builds upon the 

most credible and conservative evaluation approaches published by GLA Economics31 and is 

grounded in an extensive academic literature review on measuring the economic impact of 

destination marketing activity.  London & Partners, jointly with GLA Economics, has extended and 

adapted these methodological approaches across different marketing activities.   

In line with previous studies and with the approach used by similar organisations, the economic 

impact of consumer marketing activity is measured via ‘conversion research’. This consists of 

surveying a sample of our audience who have been exposed to our marketing activities to estimate 

the conversion of marketing exposure into actual visitors choosing London. The samples are 

contacted after their initial exposure to the marketing activity.  

The survey is designed to establish what percentage of respondents choose to visit the city following 

their interaction with London & Partners’ marketing activity. At the core of this evaluation is the 

estimation of the additionality of London & Partners’ marketing activities; i.e. the extra benefits that 

accrue as a direct result of these activities, over and above what would have happened anyway.  

 

9.3.1. Calculation of additional GVA for Leisure Tourism 

The leisure tourism economic impact model estimates the additional GVA generated by tourists 

influenced to visit London or to extend their visit in the capital as a result of engaging with London & 

Partners’ marketing activities. The major driver of economic impact is additional tourist expenditure. 

Expenditure is converted into GVA using a ratio based on data from ONS and previous GLA 

Economics evaluation evidence.  

The leisure tourism model is based on an experimental approach with an estimated counterfactual 

outcome. The “treatment group” in the experiment is the group of people exposed to London & 

Partners online marketing activity and part of a 3rd party panel database. The control group, which is 

the basis for the estimated counterfactual, is drawn from the same panel and consists of people with 

demographical characteristics similar to the exposed group in terms of nationality, age, income and 

number of children. 

To understand the additionality of marketing activities, both groups are asked questions about visits 

to London. The economic impact of marketing activity is based on the difference in visits, intentions 

to visit and visit length. The control group approach eliminates biases that would stem from using a 

                                                      
31 Key references include: “Destination Marketing and Promotion: Economic Impact Methodology Study”, ECORYS 

(formerly ECOTEC), (2010); and GLA Economics Working Papers 46 and 54, relating to Visit London campaigns (2011, 

2012).  

Page 110



 

49 
 

survey approach, e.g. over-optimism, since the same biases will be present in responses from both 

exposed and unexposed users. Ideally, we should compare behaviour by those exposed to our 

marketing activity to the behaviour of those same people, had they not been exposed. However, this 

is logically impossible, and using a control group is the second-best option.  

Samples will be collected on an ongoing basis from marketing channels where users can be tracked. 

The majority of responses will be sourced from large online campaigns, such as the London-Paris 

campaign, launched on 3rd party channels in 2018. Respondents will also be sourced from our own 

channels including visitlondon.com and social channels where users can be tracked (currently only 

Facebook).  

To the extent it is feasible, the control group for visitlondon.com will be sourced from the group of 

non-engaged users. Samples across channels and activities will be pooled this unless the sample 

sizes allow evaluation by unique campaigns and channels. At a minimum, London & Partners’ will 

aim to survey 400 users exposed to our marketing activity and compare this to 400 unexposed users. 

London & Partners will also test new methods to collect data, for example using third party pixel tracking 

to track actual bookings to London among people exposed to marketing compared to bookings among 

a control group. 

Box 1. Sampling for online marketing evaluation 

 

Exposed and unexposed survey respondents are sourced among users who have opted in to a 

third-party survey panel. They are identified using pixel tracking that matches users exposed to the 

tracked online content with users on the panel. Pixel tracking works as follows: 

1. A pixel is created and embedded within London & Partners’ marketing content. 

2. When a user is exposed to that marketing, the pixel is activated and identifies if the user is 

part of the 3rd party panel database. 

3. User identity is only known by the owner of a panel database that the user has opted into, 

and only users in the panel database are identified. Data is anonymised and no personal 

data is made available. The owner is a third-party survey company. 

4. The pixel can also capture and store information such as whether the user engaged with 

the content, the format of the content and the channel where the content was viewed 

5. Once users have this been identified on the pixel, they are placed in a group of exposed 

users. 

6. The group of exposed users are surveyed. A demographically and behaviourally similar 

group of people in the database is also identified and surveyed. 

 

Page 111



 

50 
 

Based on the responses, London & Partners is able to determine the proportion of visitors to London 

in each group. The hypothesis is that a higher share of the group of users exposed to marketing 

activity will have visited or intend to visit London, compared to the control group. The exposed group 

may also have stayed more nights. The results from the surveys are used to estimate in each group:  

• Average number of trips made to London in the last year 

• Intent to visit 

• Average length of stay   

• Average party size  

The surveys will be repeated annually where possible, and at least every 3 years, to ensure we continue 

to build our understanding of the impact of different content and channels.  

Figure 15 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

Figure 15. Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation for leisure tourism 

 

 

Table 2 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

  

Page 112



 

51 
 

Table 23. Summary of steps within the leisure tourism economic model 

Step  Detail  Source/calculation 

A  Population of engaged target 

audience 

Marketing channel data 

B Adjustment for multiple 

devices 

Exposure data or survey data combined with data from previous 

leisure tourism surveys by London & Partners 

C Additionality Survey 

D Number of engaged who 

visit or intend to visit as a 

result of London & Partners 

marketing activity 

= A * B * C 

E  Gross day visits (actual)  = D * (Average party size) * (Average days per trip) * (Average 

trips made in one year)  

Factors in brackets are drawn from survey. 

F Number of visitors influenced 

to stay longer 

Survey 

G Extra days from visitors 

influenced to stay longer 

Survey 

H Total extra days = F * G 

I Total days visited = E + H 

J Additional expenditure  Total days visited x Daily spend 

  

K Net Additional GVA  = J * Turnover to GVA conversion ratio  

Input factors in table 23 are described below.  

Population of engaged target audience 

Total population within London & Partners’ target audience who have been exposed to marketing 

activities. See appendix G for more details on the definition of engagement. 

 

Page 113



 

52 
 

Adjustment for multiple devices 

The engaged target audience is likely to have been exposed to the marketing content on more than 

one device, e.g. both on a laptop and on a mobile phone. In case the engaged target audience is not 

measured by unique users, a question from the survey on how many different devices the content has 

been seen on will be applied to discount the total population. 

Additionality 

The difference between the proportion of those who visited London from the engaged audience 

survey group and those who visited London from the control group 

Number of visitors influenced to stay longer 

Visitors exposed to London & Partners marketing content might have been influenced to stay longer 

compared to visitors in the control group. The number is calculated as the proportion of those who 

visited London from the engaged audience survey group minus the additionality (step C) multiplied by 

the total engaged target audience (step A). 

Extra days from visitors influenced to stay longer 

The difference between the number of days visited by those who visited among the engaged 

audience and those who visited among the control group 

Additional expenditure 

Daily spend is based on the International Passenger Survey32 daily average spend per market 

(overseas visitors). 

Net Additional GVA 

The net additional GVA is the economic impact in London that has happened as a result of London & 

Partners’ activities. The visitor expenditure to GVA ratio based on ONS statistics and GLA Economics 

research33 

The Social Time Preference Rate it’s not applied to GVA from visiting tourists since most tourists 

influenced by London & Partners marketing content visit less than one year after the organisation 

report its GVA impact. 

                                                      
32 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/surveys/informationforhouseholdsandindividuals/householdandindividualsurveys/internati
onalpassengersurveyips  
33 Methodology used drawn from GLA Economics Working Paper 54, which estimates a visitor expenditure to 

GVA ratio of 37.8 per cent, based on the weighted average of turnover to GVA for the relevant sectors that 
account for the tourism spend, drawn from Annual Business Survey data (ONS). This ratio was updated based 
on the visitlondon.com survey 2012/13. Standard Industrial Classification 2007 (SIC 2007) codes used – Division 
47: Retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles; Groups 55.1, 55.2, 55.9 within Accommodation 
division; Division 56: Food and beverage service Activities; R: Arts, entertainment and recreation; Groups 49.1, 
49.3, 50.3 within Transportation and storage section 

Page 114

https://www.ons.gov.uk/surveys/informationforhouseholdsandindividuals/householdandindividualsurveys/internationalpassengersurveyips
https://www.ons.gov.uk/surveys/informationforhouseholdsandindividuals/householdandindividualsurveys/internationalpassengersurveyips


 

53 
 

Measuring brand campaigns 

London & Partners will attempt to measure the impact of London messaging and brand activity for the 

first time. The hypothesis is that an improvement in the perception of London leads to an increase in 

consideration, and ultimately persuade more people to choose London as a destination. Also to be 

tested is an assumption that the more engaged the audience, the better their perception/consideration 

of London, thus the more likely they are to choose London. The methodology will be published in a 

separate paper once the assumptions have been tested.  

  

Page 115



 

54 
 

10. Higher Education 

10.1. Background 

London & Partners attracts international students to London by promoting the city as the leading study 

destination. Marketing channels include studylondon.ac.uk, social media channels, third party 

websites and social media channels, including partners and influencers. In addition to attracting 

international students, London & Partners also work to retain and attract new talent for businesses. 

Evaluation methodology is to be developed for talent, and the following focuses on attracting 

international students. 

10.2. Rationale for intervention 

Higher education organisations have little or no incentive to promote London’s brand and/or to invest 

in a destination marketing strategy. This is because students’ expenditure is spread across a range of 

organisations, meaning that higher education organisations may not internalise the full benefits of 

destination marketing. 

This coordination failure results in an under-investment of the market in promoting London’s brand. At 

the same time, information failures mean that prospective students are not fully aware of the benefits 

of London’s higher education, which might prevent a portion of them from considering London as a 

destination. 

Evaluation activity conducted at London & Partners aims to understand the portion of international 

students effectively influenced by London & Partners marketing activity. 

The logic chain diagram in figure 16 shows the progression from activities to outputs and impact. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 116



 

55 
 

Figure 16. Logic model for Higher Education 

 

10.3. Evaluation methodology 

After consultation with the British Council and a review of the evaluation and economic impact 

assessment literature, it was clear there was no robust measurement of economic impact generated 

by marketing activities to attract international students to the UK and London. The economic impact 

model developed by London & Partners and GLA Economics is the first attempt to fill this gap.  

Similar to the leisure tourism methodology, economic impact is driven by the additional students’ 

spend in London with the addition of the income from tuition fees and visits from friends and family. 

This is converted into GVA.  

A conversion survey approach is used to understand the economic impact of international students. 

Users will be surveyed across different channels. The ability to survey users will vary by channel. For 

example, on www.studylondon.ac.uk a subset of users submit their email address and can be sent 

an extensive survey. However, this group is likely to be more engaged than the total population of 

website users as email addresses are only collected if a user registers for more information or if they 

want to send a course enquiry to a university.  

Live surveys will be used on www.studylondon.ac.uk to capture the population of users who haven’t 

submitted their email addresses, however live surveys will be limited to a smaller set of questions to 

ensure high response rates. A user browsing a website live is unlikely to answers more than a small 

number of questions. This smaller set of questions will be the same as those sent to registered 

users.  

This smaller set of questions will also be used in other channels such as social media to reflect 

engagement and impact across other channels. Surveying users in social media is dependent on 

paid media spend and will therefore vary depending on specific marketing activities. Where it is not 

Page 117

http://www.studylondon.ac.uk/


 

56 
 

possible to survey social media users, information will be collected from users who have submitted 

their email address on www.studylondon.ac.uk to identify which other channels they have used.   

 

10.3.1. Calculation of additional GVA for Higher Education 

The estimate of the GVA contribution international students is in broad terms calculated by using:  

• What proportion of users who engage with London & Partners marketing activity secure a place 

in a London university or have applied for a place 

• The influence London & Partners marketing activity had on their choice to study in London 

• Average international student spend 

Figure 17 illustrates the steps in the calculation of GVA. 

 

Figure 17. Illustration of steps in the GVA calculation 

 

 

 

Table 24 describes each step with further details on the calculations and data sources. 

  

Page 118



 

57 
 

Table 24. Summary of steps within the higher education economic impact model 

Step  Detail  Source/calculation 

A  Potential students engaged in 

media channels 

Media channel statistics 

B Adjustment for multiple 

devices 

Survey 

C Converted students  Survey  

D Over-optimism bias 

adjustment  

Model assumption based on other London & Partners business 

areas 

E Additionality  Survey 

F Net additional students 

accepted to study in London 

and convinced by London & 

Partners 

= A * B * C * D * E 

G Proportion of undergraduate 

students engaged 

Website statistics  

H Net additional undergraduate 

students  

= F * G 

I Net additional postgraduate 

students 

= F * (1-G) 

J Average GVA per 

undergraduate student 

London & Partners (2018), The Economic Impact of London’s 

International Students 

K Average GVA per 

postgraduate student 

L Social Time Preference Rate HM Treasury Green Book 

M Net additional GVA = (H * J + I * K) * L 

 

Each of the factors in table 24 are described in the sections below. 

 

Potential students engaged in media channels 

The total target audience population is built on both www.studylondon.ac.uk as well as through other 

channels. The student audience is surveyed using email addresses collected on the 

www.studylondon.ac.uk website. See appendix G for more details on the definition of engagement. 

 

Page 119



 

58 
 

Adjustment for multiple devices 

Future versions of the survey will ask if the students were influenced by any other London & Partners 

channels and to what extent. This will establish the influence of different channels and identify where 

a user may have engaged across different channels and are thus therefore double counted when the 

model aggregates engagements in each channel. This will enable us to discount for multiple devices. 

Converted students  

Proportion of exposed audience converting into actual students and accepted in a university in 

London 

Over-optimism bias adjustment 

The model discounts the number of students converted to study in London by 20 % to take into 

account any over-optimism bias in the respondents’ answers. This is based on the assumption that 

those responding to the survey are the ones most engaged with studylondon.ac.uk.  

Additionality 

This measures the extent to which the students have chosen London as a result of information 

through London & Partners’ marketing activity. Previous surveys among students who had chosen to 

study in London and been exposed to London & Partners’ marketing activity estimated that an 

average 9 percent of the decision to study in London was because of London & Partners’ marketing 

activity. This additionality factor will be updated to reflect new survey response findings and averaged 

across surveys. Additionality (and weightings for analysis) is measured by asking users the question 

in table 2534:  

Table 25. Additionality question used within higher education surveys 

Question: What would you have done without the information and guidance received from Study 

London marketing activity? 

Answer Weight 

Definitely not have studied in London  100%  

Probably not have studied in London  50%  

Probably have studied in London anyway  20%  

Definitely have studied in London anyway  0%  

 

 

 

                                                      
34 Survey question based upon RDA Impact Evaluation Framework guidance, BIS.  

Page 120



 

59 
 

Proportions of undergraduate and postgraduate students engaged 

Potential students who sign up to the newsletter on studylondon.ac.uk tell if they are looking for an 

undergraduate or a postgraduate degree. These numbers are thus used to calculate the share of 

each type of students. The split is typically around 70% undergraduate and 30% postgraduate 

students. 

Average GVA per undergraduate and postgraduate student 

The assessment of the economic contribution from international students to London’s economy 

cannot be derived directly from the survey. This is due to the difficulty for prospective students and 

actual students who have just arrived in London to provide reliable estimates on the costs of living 

and the expenditure from visiting families and friends.    

London & Partners (2018) estimated the total spending generated by international students was £3.4 

billion over the 2016-17 academic year35. Table 4 shows the direct impact, with allocation across 

fees, subsistence and spending generated by friends and relatives. It also shows the conversion into 

Gross Value Added (GVA) using data from the ONS36 with a GVA impact of £1.8 billion. 

Table 26. Higher Education Spending Channels converted into Gross Value Added 

Spending Channel Total expenditure (£m) Gross Value Added (GVA), £m 

Fee income £1,523 £913 

Subsistence £1,745 £794 

Family and friends £180 £96 

Total £3,448 £1,803 

Source: London & Partners (2018), The Economic Impact of London’s International Students 

• Fee income: income paid to higher education institutions.  

• Subsistence: living costs such as rent, food, transport and leisure.  

• Family and friends’ visits: expenditure by relatives and friends who come to London to visit 

international students. 

 

Using the estimate of direct GVA impact it is possible to generate a headline assessment of the 

incremental value to the London and UK economy of increasing the number of overseas students in 

the capital. Building on table 26 table 27 summarises the per-student GVA impact. This headline 

                                                      
35 Further to this,  
36 Office of National Statistics, 2014, Annual Business Survey, November 2014. SIC codes 47,56, and L used for 

subsistence spending expenditure to GVA conversion using London data. Per student GVA is calculated based 

on the income approach. Future calculations should use the balanced approach, which the ONS is now using. 
 

Page 121



 

60 
 

level analysis suggests that each overseas student in London generated a direct GVA impact of 

around £16,100 for each year of their studies (in 2017 prices).37  

  

Table 27. Estimation of the incremental value of overseas students 

Description Undergraduate Postgraduate 

Number of students 57,190 55,015 

% of total students 51% 49% 

GVA apportioned according to share of students 

(£ million) 
£919 £884 

GVA Annual impact per student £16,100 £16,100 

GVA Average total impact per student38 £48,200 £16,100 

Source: London & Partners (2018), The Economic Impact of London’s International Students 

Social Time Preference Rate 

Impacts that happen in the future are worth less than those happening at present time. Future impacts 

are therefore discounted with the Social Time Preference Rate (STPR), as described by the HM 

Treasury Green Book39. London & Partners take this into account by multiplying the total GVA with an 

average discount factor based on how long after the organisation reports on economic impact (which is 

in April). Calculation of the discount factor is described in table 28. 

Table 28. Calculation of the average STPR discount factor 

Students’ arrival date after London & 

Partners’ economic impact is reported 

Discount rate Share of students used for 

economic impact calculation 

Up to 5 months  1 28 % 

5-17 months after 1/1.035 72 % 

STPR discount factor (weighted 

average) 

0.976 

 

                                                      
37 All figures updated to 2017 prices using ONS GDP deflator, for full details on the methodologies put in place to 

derive estimates of GVA per workforce job, by section and division, for London and the UK as a whole, see: 
Smith, B and Girardi, B, 2017, Working paper 87: Productivity Trends: GVA per workforce job estimates for 
London and the UK, 1997 – 2015, Greater London Authority Economics, available at: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/working-paper-87.pdf 
38 Total per-student impacts are based on conservative assumptions about the duration of undergraduate and 

post-graduate courses. We have assumed average durations of three years for undergraduates and one year for 
post-graduates. This latter assumption is conservative as post- graduate courses can last more than one year. 
39 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/685903/The_G
reen_Book.pdf 

Page 122

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/working-paper-87.pdf


 

61 
 

Acceleration effects, i.e. whether London & Partners have influenced students to come to London 

earlier, is excluded from the model. This is based on the fact that the decision of when to start a 

university course is dependent on the completion of previous studies and the beginning of new 

academic years. 

Net Additional GVA 

The net additional GVA is the economic impact in London that has happened as a result of London & 

Partners’ activities. 

 

 

  

Page 123



 

62 
 

APPENDIX A – Representativeness of sample of FDI businesses 

Representativeness of sectors in sample – Surveyed companies vs total companies in 2014-15 

Sector % of all companies % of surveyed companies 

ICT 42% 43% 

Financial Services 12% 14% 

Retail 5% 12% 

Creative Industries 10% 10% 

Business Services 10% 5% 

Leisure & Entertainment 4% 5% 

Construction 1% 2% 

Energy 3% 2% 

Food and Drink 4% 2% 

Industrials 1% 2% 

Life Science & Healthcare 5% 2% 

Transport 2% 0% 

Total number of companies 270 42 

 

  

Page 124



 

63 
 

APPENDIX B - Displacement questions for FDI 

In the last financial year what percentage of your sales from your London operation were to 

customers based in London? 

a) Enter a percentage between 0 and 100% (go to Q6) 

b) Not sure (go to Q5.1) 

 

5.1 Would you be able to provide your best estimate of the percentage of your sales 

which were to London customers? 

a) 1-10% 

b) 11-20% 

c) 21-40% 

d) 40-60% 

e) 61-80% 

f) 81-100% 

g) Don’t Know 

 

6. In the last financial year what percentage of your competitors were based in London? 

a) Enter a percentage between 0 and 100% (go to Q7) 

b) Not sure (go to Q6.1) 

 

6.1 Would you be able to provide your best estimate of the percentage of competitors 

which were based in London? 

a) 1-10% 

b) 11-20% 

c) 21-40% 

d) 40-60% 

e) 61-80% 

f) 81-100% 

g) Don’t Know 

  

Page 125



 

64 
 

APPENDIX C - Sectors and SIC codes for FDI 

The table below summarises how London & Partners’ definitions of priority sectors are matched to ONS 

SIC codes for GVA per job calculations. Some of them provide a close match (e.g. Financial Services), 

while for others it has been necessary to make a judgement on the appropriate codes, e.g. for the new 

tech-based sectors, such as Fintech and Proptech. Weights have been applied for such mixed sectors. 

For example, GVA per job for Fintech is calculated as the sum of 50 percent of the GVA per job in 

Financial services and 50 percent of the GVA per job in Tech. Where the sector matches result in GVA 

per job that seems unrealistic, an all industries average is used. This judgment is based on feedback 

from business development managers and has been done for the Travel Trade and University 

Innovation Hubs sectors. The reason for Travel Trade is that it has an unexpectedly high GVA per job 

number. University Innovation Hubs has been assigned the all industries average because it has a 

significantly lower GVA per job than the rest of the sectors. Part of the value created at University 

Innovation Hubs might materialise itself in spinoff companies, whose GVA values are not counted. 

Sectors and SIC codes for FDI 

Sector SIC Codes used for GVA per job Weight if applied 

Accommodation  55: Accommodation  

AdTech  70.21: Public relations and communication 
activities 

73.1: Advertising 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Artificial intelligence/machine learning  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition* 

 

Biotech  21: Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical 
products and pharmaceutical preparations 

72.11: Research and experimental 
development on biotechnology 

 

Blockchain  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition* 

 

Business services  M: Professional, scientific and technical 
activities 
N: Administrative and support service 
activities 

 

CleanTech  E: Water supply; sewerage, waste 
management and remediation activities 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Creative industries  59.11 Motion picture, video and television 
programme production activities 

59.12 Motion picture, video and television 
programme post-production 

59.13 Motion picture, video and television 
programme distribution 

59.14 Motion picture projection activities 

60.1 Radio broadcasting 

 

Page 126



 

65 
 

60.2 Television programming and 
broadcasting activities 

74.2 Photographic activities 

58.21 Publishing of computer games 

58.29 Other software publishing 

62.01 Computer programming activities 

62.02 Computer consultancy activities 

58.11 Book publishing 

58.12 Publishing of directories and 
mailing lists 

58.13 Publishing of newspapers 

58.14 Publishing of journals and 
periodicals 

58.19 Other publishing activities 

74.3 Translation and interpretation 
activities 

91.01 Library and archive activities 

91.02 Museum activities 

59.2 Sound recording and music 
publishing activities 

85.52 Cultural education 

90.01 Performing arts 

90.02 Support activities to performing arts 

90.03 Artistic creation 

90.04 Operation of arts facilities 

Culture  90.01 Performing arts 

90.02 Support activities to performing arts 

90.03 Artistic creation 

90.04 Operation of arts facilities 

59.11 Motion picture, video and television 
programme production activities 

59.12 Motion picture, video and television 
programme post-production 

 

Page 127



 

66 
 

59.13 Motion picture, video and television 
programme distribution 

59.14 Motion picture projection activities 

60.2 Television programming and 
broadcasting activities 

59.2 Sound recording and music 
publishing activities 

18.2 Reproduction of recorded media 

32.2 Manufacture of musical 
instruments 

47.63 Retail sale of music and video 
recordings in specialised stores 

60.1 Radio broadcasting 

74.2 Photographic activities 

32.12 Manufacture of jewellery and 
related articles 

91.02 Museum activities 

91.01 Library and archive activities 

85.52 Cultural education 

91.03 Operation of historical sites and 
buildings and similar visitor attractions 

Cyber security  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition 

 

E-commerce  47.91: Retail sale via mail order houses or 
via Internet 

 

E-sports  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition* 

 

EdTech  P: Education 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Energy  35: Electricity, gas, steam and air 
conditioning supply 

 

Engineering  42: Civil engineering 

71.12: Engineering activities and related 
technical consultancy 

 

 

EventTech  68.20/2: Letting and operating of conference 
and exhibition centres 

82.3: Organisation of conventions and trade 
shows 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

FashTech  47.71: Retail sale of clothing in specialised 
stores 

50 % 

Page 128



 

67 
 

47.72: Retail sale of footwear and leather 
goods in specialised stores 

74.1: Specialised design activities 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Financial services  K: Financial and insurance activities  

Fintech  K: Financial and insurance activities 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

GovTech  84: Public administration and defence; 
compulsory social security 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Hardware  Computer and electronic manufacturing 
services from Tech definition 

 

HealthTech  Healthcare service definition** 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

HR tech  78: Employment activities 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Infrastructure  42: Civil engineering  

InsurTech  K: Financial and insurance activities 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

MedTech  26.6: Manufacture of irradiation, 
electromedical and electrotherapeutic 
equipment 

26.70/1: Manufacture of optical precision 
instruments 

32.5: Manufacture of medical and dental 
instruments and supplies 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Online games  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition* 

 

PropTech  L: Real estate activities 50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

Regeneration  41: Construction of buildings  

Retail40 47: Retail trade, except of motor vehicles 
and motorcycles 

 

RetailTech  47: Retail trade, except of motor vehicles 
and motorcycles 

50 % 

Tech definition* 50 % 

SAAS/software  Digital & computer services from Tech 
definition* 

 

Smart cities/Internet of Things  Tech definition* 50 % 

D: Electricity, gas, steam and air 
conditioning supply 

10 % 

E: Water supply; sewerage, waste 
management and remediation activities 

20 % 

H: Transportation and storage 10 % 

Healthcare service definition** 10 % 

Telecommunication  61: Telecommunications  

Transportation  H: Transportation and storage  

Travel trade  All industries average  

TravelTech  79: Travel agency, tour operator and other 
reservation service and related activities 

 

Tech definition* 50 % 

University innovation hubs  All industries average  

Virtual reality, augmented reality or mixed 
reality  

Tech definition*  

                                                      
40 Retail is not a priority sector, so it could have been captured by the “All industries” definition. 
However, Retail traditionally makes up a large share of the non-priority projects, and we are therefore 
allowing a separate definition. 
 

Page 129



 

68 
 

All industries41 All industries average  

 

*Tech definition 

26.1 Manufacture of electronic components and boards 

26.11 Manufacture of electronic components 

26.12 Manufacture of loaded electronic boards 

26.2 Manufacture of computers and peripheral equipment 

26.4 Manufacture of consumer electronics 

26.51/1 
Manufacture of electronic instruments and appliances for measuring, testing, and 
navigation, except industrial process control equipment 

26.51/2 Manufacture of electronic industrial process control equipment 

26.8 Manufacture of magnetic and optical media 

33.13 Repair of electronic and optical equipment 

95.11 Repair of computers and peripheral equipment 

58.2 Software publishing 

58.21 Publishing of computer games 

58.29 Other software publishing 

62 Computer programming, consultancy and related activities 

62.01 Computer programming activities 

62.01/1 Ready-made interactive leisure and entertainment software development 

62.01/2 Business and domestic software development 

62.02 Computer consultancy activities 

62.03 Computer facilities management activities 

62.09 Other information technology and computed service activities 

63.1 Data processing, hosting and related activities; web portals 

63.11 Data processing, hosting and related activities 

63.12 Web portals 

 

  

                                                      
41Used for all projects that do not fall into one of the other sectors 

Page 130



 

69 
 

**Healthcare service definition 

75 Veterinary activities 

86 Human health activities 

86.1 Hospital activities 

86.10/1 Hospital activities 

86.10/2 Medical nursing home activities 

86.2 Medical and dental practice activities 

86.21 General medical practice activities 

86.22 Specialist medical practice activities 

86.23 Dental practice activities 

86.9 Other human health activities 

 

  

Page 131



 

70 
 

APPENDIX D – Sectors and SIC codes for MIBP 

SIC codes used to define MIBP sectors 

Life-sciences Turnover in 

London, 2016 

GVA in London, 

2016 

GVA to 

turnover ratio 

C29: Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical 

products and pharmaceutical preparations 

£339 million £186 million  

C34: Manufacture of computer, electronic and 

optical products 

£616 million £347 million  

Total for sector £955 million £533 million 56% 

Technology 

C34: Manufacture of computer, electronic and 

optical products 

£616 million £347 million  

C35: Manufacture of electrical equipment £392 million £157 million  

J: Information and communication £101,047 million £52,484 million  

Total for sector £102,055 million £52,988 million 52% 

Urban 

C34: Manufacture of computer, electronic and 

optical products 

£616 million £347 million  

F: Construction £42,964 million £15,214 million  

J: Information and communication £101,047 million £52,484 million  

M79: Architectural and engineering activities: 

technical testing and analysis   

£11,986 million £7,744 million  

Total for sector £156,613 million £75,789 million 48% 

Source: Annual Business Survey, Office for National Statistics, 2016. 

  

Page 132



 

71 
 

APPENDIX E – GVA assigned to event types 
 

 

GVA assigned to event type 

Group 

GVA per 

spectator Source 

A = Sporting 

Single-Day high 

profile 

international event £23.30 

Based on 2013 primary research for NFL (relatively high international 

attendance) 

B = Sporting Multi-

Day high profile 

international event £11.10 

Based on SIRC analysis from 2012 primary Research for ATP  

C = Sporting - 

single or multiday 

local low profile 

mainly local event £3.20 

Based on 2014 Fina diving world series at the London aquatics centre. 

Examples of such type of events are wheelchair rugby or tennis, Winter 

run etc. 

D  = Free cultural 

Single or Multi-

Day event £1.60 

Based on Lumiere London 2016 primary research. Lumiere was a free 

high profile cultural event, with significant presence of local visitors 

E  = Creative/Art 

Single or multi-

Day event £11.60 

Based on London Design festival economic impact figures. The festival 

has a significant proportion of non-local visitors. 

 

  

Page 133



 

72 
 

APPENDIX F – Logic chain examples and simplified GVA 

calculations for select business areas 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



 

73 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



 

74 
 

 

 

  

  

Page 136



 

75 
 

APPENDIX G – Defining marketing engagement 
 

Having a clearly defined target audience ensures the methodology only captures the impact on the 

targeted audience, and not any incidental impact on other audiences who may also happen to come 

across London & Partners marketing activity. This is a conservative approach to measuring the 

impact of London & Partners marketing activity.  

Target audience by market* 

- China, India, France, Germany and USA 

Target audience by age42 

- 18-34 year olds (leisure tourists) 

- 15-25 year olds (international students)  

 

Websites  

Unique visitors who engage with a website are the population used to estimate the economic impact 

of marketing activity. On visitlondon.com we do not count visitors whose visits to the website begins 

on content that suggests they have already chosen London and are looking for guidance e.g. specific 

product or event pages.  

  

The number of unique visitors, which is used as the measure of the population, only takes into 

account an engaged visit. An engaged visit is defined as a user who visits more than one page or 

interacts with the page (e.g. watches a video, views more than 50% of an article page). Users who 

leave a website without engaging are discounted. The assumption is they have not been engaged 

sufficiently to have been influenced.   

When London & Partners activity uses a third-party website to reach our target audience we will use 

the same methodology as above except the engagement metric may be simplified and may only 

account for the bounce rate. This may be necessary if the third-party site is unable to add advanced 

tracking to measure engagement with the content (e.g. tracking page scrolls and video views). 

Social media channels 

Users engaged on our social media channels are the population used to estimate the economic 

impact of marketing activity. This data is collected via a variety of tools and platforms depending on 

the specific social media channel.  

 

An engaged user is defined as a user who interacts with the content (e.g. likes, shares, comments on 

a post, watches a video, etc). Users who do not engage are discounted. The assumption is they have 

not been engaged sufficiently to have been influenced.  

 

                                                      
42 As defined in 2018/19 - 2020/2021 strategy 

Page 137



 

76 
 

There are challenges to collecting specific data for our target audiences on social media. The level of 

available data varies by the social media platform (Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest etc) and also by the 

type of activity, e.g. more detailed data is available for paid activity compared to organic (non-paid) 

activity. Few social media platforms provide detailed engagement data segmented by both age and 

geolocation for organic activity which means we must use suitable proxies.  

 

An example of how engagement is calculated for Facebook and Instagram is provided below, in the 

table below. This methodology will evolve and improve as more data, tools and different social media 

platforms emerge. We will review and update this methodology annually as required. 

 

Examples of definitions of social media engagement – own, paid and earned 

Channel Activity type Reach  Engagement 

Facebook & 

Instagram 

Organic 1. Total audience 

reached 

2. Apply % target 

market 

3. Target age data not 

available. Proxy 1 = 

% fans following own 

channel in target age 

range* 

4. Engagement of target audience 

reached not available. Proxy 2 = 

% of total audience engaged 

taken from the average % of our 

engaged audience from paid 

activity for this target audience** 

 Paid 1. Total audience 

reached in each 

market, in target age 

range 

2. % of target audience reached 

who engaged with activity  

 Earned 

(influencer/pa

rtner 

marketing) 

1. Total audience 

reached 

2. Apply % target 

market 

3. Target age data not 

available. Proxy 3 = 

% fans following the 

influencer/partner 

channel in target age 

range*** 

4. Engagement of target audience 

reached not available. Proxy 4 = 

% of engaged followers on the 

influencer/partner channel**** 

 

*Proxy 1 - the demographic of our organic reach is highly likely to be representative of the 

demographic following our channel.  

Page 138



 

77 
 

**Proxy 2 - the content used on organic and paid activity will be very similar (if not the same) and so 

the engagement rate is likely to be similar. Using the paid engagement rate is likely to be a 

conservative estimate as you would expect organic engagement to be higher as this is shared with 

our fans and their followers. 

***Proxy 3 - the demographic of an influencer’s organic reach is highly likely to be representative to 

the demographic following the influencer’s channel. 

****Proxy 4 - the engagement rate of an influencer’s followers is likely to be similar to the engagement 

rate with their wider audience (e.g. if content is shared beyond their own audience).  

  

Page 139



 

78 
 

Third party email  

Open rates will be used to measure engagement. We will not measure our own email databases on 

the assumption these users have already engaged with our channels to subscribe to the email 

distribution list and so their engagement is already counted as part of other channels. 

New channels 

New channels will emerge where we are not currently active and we will define engagement for these 

as they arise.  

Known limitations of measuring Engagement 

The table below highlights some of the limitations of our evaluation model. These are not unique to 

the evaluation model but are well established challenges to effectively and consistently measure the 

impact of marketing activity across different channels. We will evolve the methodology annually to 

address these challenges as more data and measurement tools become available.  

Known limitations of measuring Engagement 

Limitation Description Current solution 

Engagements are not 

unique 

• We are aggregating 

engagement within the 

same channel i.e. highly 

engaged users engaging 

multiple times could inflate 

engagement rates of the 

total population. 

• We are aggregating 

engagements across 

channels. Some users will 

engage with content across 

multiple channels. 

• Survey will establish number 

of times a user engages with 

content across different 

channels 

• This will be used to discount 

aggregate engagement to 

approximate unique 

engagement 

 

All engagements are 

not equal 

• More engaging content is 

likely to be more effective in 

influencing a person to 

choose London e.g. a 

person liking a picture on 

social media is likely to be 

less influential than a 

person viewing a video.  

• We will use pixel tracking in 

upcoming campaigns to 

understand the different 

influences of different media 

and channels with a view to 

updating the model in future 

if this is successful and the 

proposed methodology is 

easy to apply. 

 

  

Page 140



 

79 
 

Contacts 

Jakob Oddershede 

Senior Economist  

joddershede@londonandpartners.com 

 

Alex Kinchin-Smith 

Director 

akinchinsmith@londonandpartners.com 

 

Simon McCaugherty 

Director, Marketing Strategy 

smccaugherty@londonandpartners.com 

 

Susannah Stearman 

Economist 

sstearman@londonandpartners.com 

 

 

 

London & Partners  

6th Floor  

2 More London Riverside  

London SE1 2RR  

www.londonandpartners.com 

  

Page 141

http://www.londonandpartners.com/


 

80 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London & Partners 

6th Floor, 2 More London Riverside London SE1 2RR 

+44 (0)20 7234 5800 londonandpartners.com 

 

Page 142



 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport for London Capital Projects 
Delivery 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 21 May 2019 

 

This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides information on the Committee’s consideration of Transport for London’s (TfL) 

capital projects delivery.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to guests from 

TfL on delivery of the TfL capital programme, and notes the subsequent discussion. 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chairman, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree any output from the 

discussion at the meeting. 

 

3. Background 
   
3.1 This meeting will be the first in a proposed investigation into TfL’s capital projects delivery. TfL have 

one of the largest capital investment programmes in the country. However, as Crossrail has 

demonstrated, even the most extensively resourced and high profile projects can have delivery 

issues. TfL are spending significant amounts on capital investment every year, but is London getting 

what has previously been promised or what it actually needs?  

 

3.2 The Mayor made a point of highlighting in the latest TfL Business Plan that the level of capital 

expenditure will be maintained over the next three years. However, this is in the context of a number 

of capital schemes being delayed or cancelled. With no new capital initiatives announced, this would 

imply that the costs of existing capital projects is escalating.  

 

3.3 TfL is responsible for keeping the transport network operating and, at times, this may conflict with 

delivering capital enhancement of the network. But with limited funding available, it is key that the 

focus on value for money is balanced with minimising the disruption to the network. 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 8



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 Guests from TfL have been invited to attend the meeting. 

 

4.2  The topic for today’s meeting was agreed by the Chairman under delegated authority, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM. 

 

4.3 The proposed terms of reference for the investigation is assessing the value for money of TfL’s 

Investment Programme. The objective for London is that TfL are generating the greatest benefit 

from their available resources. Central to this is the idea of cost effectiveness – the optimal use of 

resources to achieve the intended outcomes. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Gino Brand, Financial and Policy Analyst  

Telephone: 020 7983 5792 

Email: Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk    

 

Page 144

mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Budget and Performance Committee 
Work Programme 

Report to: Budget and Performance Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 21 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 

1. Summary  

1.1 This report sets out the proposed Budget and Performance Committee timetable for 2019/20. 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Committee notes its work programme. 

 

3. Background   

3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the first such report for this Assembly year.  

4 Issues for Consideration  

4.1 During 2019/20 the Committee will scrutinise the Mayor’s 2020/21 budget proposals for the 

Greater London Authority (GLA) Group on behalf of the London Assembly, as well as examine 

specific budget and performance issues across the GLA Group. 

Proposed meeting timetable 

4.2 The following table sets out the scheduled future meetings of the Committee in 2019/20 that were 

agreed at the Assembly’s Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019. At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA 

Oversight Committee agreed the topics for the Committee’s first two meetings in May and June 

2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 9



        

Date Topic 

Tuesday 21 May 2019 TfL Capital Projects Delivery 

Tuesday 11 June 2019 TBA 

Thursday 11 July 2019 TBA 

Thursday 26 September 2019 TBA 

Tuesday 26 November 2019 TBA 

Tuesday 10 December 2019 TBA 

Wednesday 11 December 2019 AM and 

PM 

TBA 

Monday 6 January 2020 TBA 

Tuesday 7 January 2020 TBA 

Tuesday 10 March 2020 TBA 

 

4.3 On 24 April 2019 the Chancellor of the Exchequer indicated to the Treasury Select Committee that 

as a result of the Brexit delay that it “would probably not be appropriate to go ahead with a 

three-year Spending Review”1. In response the Committee have agreed to postpone this session and 

instead bring forward the TfL Capital Projects Deliver topic to the 21 May 2019. Subsequent 

meetings for this and the Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee are under review and may change as a 

result.       

 

4.4 The Committee can agree topics for each meeting as the year progresses. 

 

Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee 

4.5 The Budget Monitoring Sub-Committee monitors GLA Group spending and performance and informs 

the work of the Budget and Performance Committee.  It will meet four times during 2019/20. At its 

meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed the topic for the Committee’s first 

meetings in June 2019. 

 

Meeting Date Proposed topic 

Wednesday 12 June 2019 OPDC and HIF Funding 

Wednesday 11 September TBA 

Wednesday 4 December TBA 

Wednesday 11 March TBA 

                                                 
1 http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/treasury-committee/spring-statement-
2019/oral/100709.html  

Page 146

http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/treasury-committee/spring-statement-2019/oral/100709.html
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/treasury-committee/spring-statement-2019/oral/100709.html


        

4.6 As well as examining the GLA Group quarterly monitoring reports, the Sub-Committee will explore 

topical issues or specific areas contributing to the full Committee’s investigations or reports, where 

appropriate, and examine Mayoral Decisions. 

5 Legal Implications 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

6 Financial Implications 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Gino Brand, Financial and Policy Analyst  

Telephone: 020 7983 5792 

Email: Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk    

 

Page 147

mailto:Gino.Brand@London.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 148


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - London and Partners

	7 Summary List of Actions
	07a L&PCommitteeResponse_LauraCitron_FINAL
	07a(i) L&PEvaluationMethodology2018

	8 Transport for London Capital Projects Delivery
	9 Budget and Performance Committee Work Programme

